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PART I

Item 1. Business
Company Overview

Since our founding in 1992, we have become recognized as a world-class provider of automated defect detection and product characterization
systems for microelectronic device manufacturers. Our systems provide these manufacturers with information that enables process-enhancing
decisions, ultimately lowering manufacturing costs, improving time-to-market and enhancing the performance of their products. We combine
our core competencies in machine vision technology, optics, lighting and precision motion control with our proprietary software and extensive
microelectronic-specific applications experience to deliver scalable, modular systems that excel at the automated detection of advanced macro
defects, which we define to be defects greater in size than 0.5 micron. We sell our systems to many of the leading microelectronic device
manufacturers throughout the world within the markets of semiconductors, advanced packaging applications, optoelectronics, MEMS, data
storage and other emerging markets.

We have traditionally provided systems to address the automated inspection needs of the early stages of the final manufacturing or back-end of

the microelectronic device manufacturing process. These needs were met primarily with our NSX Series and 3Di Series of products. In 2003, we
introduced the AXi Series for frontside advanced macro detection in the front-end of the wafer manufacturing process and within one year, we
added the E20 for wafer edge inspection and the B20 for wafer backside inspection. When used in combination the AXi/E20/B20 is the

industry s first true all-surface advanced macro inspection solution allowing device manufacturers to inspect the top, edge and bottom of a wafer s
surface. We complement this broad inspection capability with an expanding suite of software tools designed to enhance the speed and

effectiveness of the process by which device manufacturers analyze defects and make decisions regarding their manufacturing process to reduce

or eliminate such defects. We refer to this process as the detection-to-decision process.

In addition to internal development, we look to expand through strategic acquisitions of complementary products and technologies. In July of
2004 we completed the acquisition of DMSVision, a third generation defect data management solution developed and commercialized by
Inspex, a U.S. company owned by Photonics Management Company, a U.S. subsidiary of Hamamatsu Photonics KK of Japan. DMSVision s
easy-to-use fab-wide defect data management solution provides the basis for our next generation decision tools including Automated Defect
Classification ( ADC ), all-surface review and analysis.

On January 21, 2005, we entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization (the Merger Agreement ) with Nanometrics,
Incorporated ( Nanometrics ), Major League Merger Corporation ( Merger Sub 1 ) and Minor League Merger Corporation ( Merger Sub 2 ).
Pursuant to the Merger Agreement (a) Nanometrics will effect a reincorporation under Delaware law by merging with and into Merger Sub 2, a
Delaware corporation, with the surviving entity to be renamed August Nanometrics Inc. ( August Nanometrics ) and (b) Merger Sub 1 will be
merged with and into August Technology, with the surviving entity to be a wholly-owned subsidiary of August Nanometrics. Each share of our
common stock will be converted into the right to receive 0.6401 of a share of August Nanometrics common stock. August Nanometrics will
make a cash payment to our shareholders for any fractional shares of August Nanometrics common stock they would otherwise be entitled to
receive instead of issuing fractional shares.

On January 27, 2005, we received a letter from Paul F. McLaughlin, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Rudolph Technologies, Inc.
( Rudolph ), stating that Rudolph is prepared to enter into a merger with us based on a share exchange ratio of 0.6239 share of Rudolph stock for
each share of our common stock (equivalent to $10.50 per share of our common stock based on the closing price of Rudolph

3




Edgar Filing: AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORP - Form 10-K

stock on January 27, 2005). The letter stated that each of our shareholders may elect to receive all cash, stock or a combination of cash and
stock, subject to proration based on total cash consideration of $40 million.

Also on January 27, 2005, Rudolph issued a press release with proposed terms slightly different from those described in the letter. The press
release stated that Rudolph is prepared to enter into a merger with us whereby each of our shareholders will receive the value of $2.16 per share
in cash and 0.4955 per share in Rudolph common stock (equivalent to $10.50 per share of our Common Stock, based on the closing price of
Rudolph stock on January 27, 2005). The press release stated that each of our shareholders would have the option to elect to receive all cash,
stock or a combination of cash and stock, subject to proration based on total cash consideration of $40 million.

Our Board of Directors has agreed, based on the advice of its financial advisors and legal counsel, to further examine the Rudolph offer provided
that Rudolph first executes a confidentiality agreement in the form required by the Merger Agreement with Nanometrics. As of the date of this
filing, we have not reached agreement on the form of confidentiality agreement and no discussions regarding Rudolph s offer have taken place.

On February 9, 2005, we received a letter from Kenneth Schroeder, President and Chief Executive Officer of KLA-Tencor Corporation ( KLA ),
regarding KLLA s interest in pursuing a merger with us. The letter stated that KL A proposed to acquire us in a transaction in which our
shareholders would receive $11.50 per share. KLLA also stated that it would be willing to consider using stock as consideration.

Our Board of Directors has agreed, based on the advice of its financial advisors and legal counsel, to further examine the KLA offer provided
that KLA first executes a confidentiality agreement in the form required by the Merger Agreement with Nanometrics. As of the date of this
filing, we have not reached agreement on the form of confidentiality agreement and no discussions regarding KLA s offer have taken place.

Our Market

Rapid advances in semiconductor and other microelectronic device technology, including miniaturization, increasing complexity and advanced
packaging and interconnect solutions, allow manufacturers to enhance the quality and capabilities of their devices. These advances often
increase the complexity of the processes required to produce the devices as well as the associated production costs. Because of these increased
costs and the need to ensure that performance and reliability are not sacrificed, the role of inspection and rapid detection of defects during
multiple stages of the microelectronic production process is becoming increasingly critical. Defects can occur throughout the manufacturing
process as a result of such things as equipment misalignment, contamination, residue, corrosion, or the misapplication of various films. Defects
such as scratches, cracks and chip-outs also can be generated by mechanical handling in the manufacturing process.

Historically, manufacturers generally have relied on engineers and technicians using microscopes to manually inspect sample batches of wafers
to detect defects during the various stages of the manufacturing process. Studies have shown that fatigue and boredom result in typical efficacy
of human inspectors at about 50% compared with in excess of 90% consistency for automated machine vision systems. As a result, it has been
ineffective and cost-prohibitive for manufacturers to capture critical process data by inspecting manually every wafer and die after each process
step. These manual inspection limitations result in the following:

Yield loss due to a lack of process data. The inability to capture adequate data throughout the manufacturing process
prevents microelectronic device manufacturers from locating problems on a timely
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basis and taking corrective action. Timely corrective action could minimize the scrapping of valuable wafers and improve the process and yield
for future products.

Productivity constraints.  As microelectronic devices have become more complex, the need for more extensive
inspection and defect data has increased significantly. Given these requirements, manufacturers must either add more
technicians, significantly impacting productivity of the microelectronic fabrication facility, or assume a greater risk of
defects remaining undetected until later in the process.

Defective product shipments. By inspecting less than 100% of their products, manual inspection requires manufacturers to
assume a greater risk of shipping defective products to their customers.

Slower time-to-market. As microelectronic device and end-product life cycles decrease, the speed at which
manufacturers must reach optimal production yields has become increasingly critical. This pressure to minimize
time-to-market requires manufacturers to reduce the amount of time spent training technicians, qualifying new
production equipment and managing the logistics of a manual inspection process.

Increased labor and facility requirements. The large number of technicians and microscopes needed to manually inspect
microelectronic devices requires valuable floor space and significant capital commitments. In addition, attracting and
retaining qualified technicians has become increasingly difficult.

Automated inspection systems and data management and analysis software enable manufacturers to overcome these limitations by allowing
them to inspect 100% of their products and consistently identify and resolve defects at various stages of the manufacturing process, helping to
drive down production costs, increase throughput and decrease time-to-market.

Our Solutions

We deliver automated advanced macro defect inspection, metrology, and analysis systems for microelectronic industries. Our systems provide
device manufacturers with valuable information about their products and processes, at speeds that make it practical to inspect each device rather
than a small sample. We accomplish this by combining our core competencies in machine vision technology, optics, lighting and precision
motion control with our proprietary software and extensive microelectronic-specific applications experience to provide cost-effective solutions.
We offer our systems at several price performance levels to satisfy our customers diverse requirements. Specifically, we provide:

Fast, automated, 100% wafer inspection. Our systems are specifically designed to address our customers need for fast,
automated inspection tools. Our systems are able to inspect up to 110 wafers per hour depending upon the application
and wafer size, enabling our customers to inspect 100% of their production without decreasing throughput. In
comparison, depending on the application, our systems can inspect a complex die approximately 100 times faster than
a human operator.

Data collection to enable higher productivity and yields. Our systems enable microelectronic device manufacturers to
cost-effectively collect and process defect data at multiple key points throughout the production process and provide
manufacturers with the information required to improve their production processes and yields. Integrated reporting
and analysis tools allow manufacturers to extract critical information about product defects, including location, size
and other important defect characteristics.

Scalable, modular inspection platforms. Our systems are designed on common platforms that allow us to configure flexible
systems to meet our customers application and throughput requirements. This flexibility provides an easy upgrade
path for customers to respond to changes in process technologies, substrate sizes or materials.

Access to expert application development resources. Our advanced application engineers and design experts work
collaboratively with our customers to optimize the use of inspection in their manufacturing
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process. This reduces their process development time and costs. We have field application engineers in strategic locations throughout the world
to work with our customers on-site and provide the knowledge and expertise to deliver a total inspection solution.

Focus on advanced macro inspection. We focus on serving various advanced macro inspection applications rather than
attempting to pursue the entire range of possible inspection and metrology applications. This allows us to most
effectively concentrate our resources on delivering leading solutions to these 0.5 micron and larger applications. As
our business continues to grow we will expand our focus to include other areas of inspection and metrology that are
complimentary to our existing advanced macro inspection business.

Our Strategy

Our strategy is built around achieving our vision to dominate the automated inspection market and generate complete product characterization
solutions for evolving microelectronic markets in order to drive down costs and time-to-market for our customers. We have identified five
strategic initiatives that are critical to successfully implementing our vision:

Market diversification. We leverage our core competencies across a variety of microelectronic industries using similar
manufacturing processes and within multiple applications. While our customers include the suppliers of
semiconductor devices used in a wide range of electronic products such as cellular phones, personal digital assistants,
cable modems, network switches and personal computers, they also include suppliers of microelectronic devices
within markets such as advanced packaging applications, MEMS, optoelectronics, data storage and other emerging
markets. By maintaining our diversification initiatives, we strive to maximize our market opportunity.

The following table represents our net revenues for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 from each of the microelectronic markets we
serve.

2004 2003
Year-over-

Net Percent of total Percent of total year
Microelectronic Market Revenues net revenues Net Revenues net revenues change

(in thousands) (in thousands)
Semiconductor $ 51,779 76 % $ 17,595 44 % 194 %
Advanced packaging applications 8,430 12 % 15,772 39 % -47 %
Optoelectronics 5,846 8 % 2,581 6 % 127 %
MEMS 1,830 3 % 2,775 7 % -34 %
Data Storage & other 558 1 % 1,600 4 % -65 %
Total $ 68,443 $ 40,323 70 %

Technology leadership. Through our technology leadership we deliver customer-driven product innovations focused on
price, performance and flexibility. Technology leadership is critical to increasing our competitive win rate,
maintaining strong gross margins and building market dominance. Our recent product development efforts resulted in
several new product enhancements within our NSX Series, AXi Series, and YieldPilot product lines as well as new
capabilities that expanded our front-end fab and all-surface applications. We shipped the first AXi/E20/B20
all-surface advanced macro defect inspection system during the fourth quarter of 2004. These products continue to
propel us into the front-end of the microelectronic device manufacturing process by addressing advanced macro
inspection needs.

In 2004, 43% of our revenues were derived from products and solutions introduced during the prior two years. We plan to continue making
significant investments in research and development to maintain and extend our technology leadership.
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Customer application partnerships. Our customer application partnership program is designed to meet specific customer
requirements with solutions that are engineered to their unique specifications. Through this process, we are able to
forge stronger and more strategic relationships with existing and new customers. In 2004, we continued our joint
development program, which was critical in the commercialization of our AXi Series, with one of the top ten
semiconductor manufacturers in the world. This program is continuing to aid in our penetration into front-end wafer
processing applications.

Global presence. 'We continually maintain and enhance our global presence in order to provide the infrastructure
necessary to support our global customer base. In 2004, we enhanced our presence in Asia by doubling our Taiwan
applications and support operations center to better support our customers in Southeast Asia. We believe our direct
presence in Southeast Asia and our relationships with large Taiwanese foundries will be a catalyst for expansion in
mainland China. In March 2004 we opened a direct sales and service office in South Korea. We also have direct sales
and service personnel and independent distributors located strategically in Singapore, Europe and Japan. Our support
services include web-based service capability and 24-hour global support.

External growth. We increase and enhance our growth opportunities through external sources, including acquisitions,
collaborations, licensing and joint ventures. We completed the acquisition of DMSVision in July 2004. We continue
to examine potential acquisitions that will provide us with additional products, technological expertise, or sales and
service capabilities. The acquisition of DMSVision expands our data analysis capabilities and brings access to key
customers and technology. We are also active in industry collaborations, such as the Advanced Packaging and
Interconnect Alliance ( APiA ) and the Die Products Consortium ( DPC ). The APiA is focused on enhancing
productivity and process solutions for advanced packaging. The DPC is a collaboration of leading chip manufacturers
and equipment suppliers promoting improved die product quality and manufacturing processes. We believe that
organizations such as these will enable us to build stronger relationships with industry leaders and increase our market
opportunity by driving the need for advanced automated inspection products.
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Our Products

We strive to be early to market with innovative defect inspection and review solutions to emerging microelectronic device manufacturing needs.
In 1997, we introduced the NSX Series, our first automated defect inspection system for final manufacturing, and since then have maintained
leadership of that market segment. In 2003, we introduced inspection technology to address the front-end of the microelectronic device
manufacturing process with the introduction of the AXi Series. We also introduced the E20 for edge inspection and the B20 for backside
inspection allowing inspection of the entire surface of a wafer. Also in 2003, we introduced the VersaScope, a semi-automated,
microscope-based, defect review system. In 2004 we added enhancements to our NSX Series, AXi Series and all-surface capabilities. The
following table summarizes the primary attributes of our products:

Applications
Front-End
Outgoing Quality Final
Product Introduced Functionality Fab Control Manufacturing
AXi Series 2003 e Advanced detection of defects >0.5 micron X X
e Inspection of patterned and unpatterned
wafers
e In line, high-speed, 100% inspection
e Full color review
E20 2003 e 2D defect detection of the wafer s edge X X X
e Metrology of edge features
B20 2003 e 2D defect detection of the wafer s backside X X X
NSX Series 1997 e Fully automated defect detection >0.5 X X
micron

e 2D wafer, die & bump inspection
e In line, high-speed, 100% inspection
3Di Series 2001 e 2D & 3D wafer bump inspection & X X
metrology system
o In line, high-speed, 100% inspection

VersaScope(1) 2003 e Advanced imaging microscope-based system X
e Harmony review and classification system
YieldPilot 2000 e Tool-centric defect and metrology review X X X

and analysis software used with the NSX, 3Di,
and AXi Series
e Reduces defect review time
® Allows offline defect review
DMSVision(2) 1994 e Fabwide software for archival and retrieval X X
of process related data
e Facilitates root cause analysis, yield
enhancement and yield learning
CV Series 1993 e Verification of critical wafer carrier X
dimensions

) Acquired with the acquisition of Counterpoint Solutions, Inc. in July 2003.

@) Acquired with the acquisition of DMS Vision in July 2004.
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AXi Series Automated defect inspection systems. In January 2003, we introduced our AXi Series, designed specifically as an
advanced macro defect inspection tool to be used throughout the fab process. The ability to inspect 100% of wafers
for defects between 5 and 10 microns at high throughputs offers device manufacturers new insight into their complex
manufacturing process. In 2004, we introduced the AXi-935 for higher throughput at higher resolutions. We believe
other macro defect solutions currently are unable to achieve this combination of resolution and throughput. The AXi
Series has been deployed on multiple production lines at one of the world s leading integrated device manufacturers
and has also been installed at several other chip makers around the world.

Our first all-surfaces inspection system, including an AXi, E20 and B20 shipped in December 2004 for evaluation and testing by one of the
world s leading device manufacturers. We have several additional all-surface systems scheduled for shipment and installation at various
customers during the first half of 2005.

Revenues from all surface inspection systems represented 20%, 12% and 0% of our net revenues during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

E20 Automated wafer edge inspection and metrology systems. In July 2003, we introduced the E20 for wafer edge
inspection and metrology, which inspects for chip-outs, cracks, delamination, residual resist, particles and other
defects that occur along the edge of the wafer. The E20 also automatically performs metrology of key edge features
and is designed for deployment at several locations throughout the fab. For example, automated edge inspection,
implemented during the lithography process, will identify wafer edge variations and particles early and allow for
possible wafer rework that can increase yields and reduce manufacturing costs. Due to the increase in edge area and
wafer stress levels in 300mm wafer processing, the value of wafer edge inspection is magnified. The E20 also
incorporates our latest user-interface platform, making the system easy to set up and run in production.

We began to recognize revenue from the E20 in the second half of 2004.

B20 Automated wafer backside inspection and metrology system. In December 2003 we introduced the B20 or wafer backside
inspection, completing the all-surface inspection portfolio of products. The B20 detects backside defects such as
cracks and particles which may negatively impact further processing of the wafer and cause wafer breakage later in
the process. The B20, built on the same flexible and easy to set up platform as the E20, can be combined with our
front-side inspection systems (NSX, AXi or 3Di) and edge inspection systems (E20) to provide an all-surface wafer
inspection solution.

We expect to begin to recognize revenue from the B20 in the second half of 2005.

NSX Series Automated defect inspection systems. We became pioneers of automated macro defect inspection in 1997 with the
introduction of our NSX Series. These flexible automated wafer and die defect inspection systems deliver high-speed,
consistent, reliable defect detection to microelectronic device manufacturers. As a replacement for the human eye in
the inspection process, the NSX Series significantly improves the quality and throughput of the inspection process,
leading to lower overall manufacturing costs.

The NSX Series is driven by proprietary software and includes integrated yield enhancement tools such as automated data collection and
reporting, extensive communication options and fast setup using Windows®-based menus. The NSX Series handles all wafer sizes, 50mm up to
300mm, with both whole wafer and film frame capabilities. The NSX-115 is the highest performance model in the series, demonstrating
industry-leading inspection throughput and capabilities, and delivering the best price/performance ratio of all NSX models. With five models
available in the NSX Series, customers may tailor systems toward their specific application, process or budget by choosing from a range of
system capabilities. The NSX systems are installed in a broad array of processing steps from front end wafer process applications to final
manufacturing steps.
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In 2004 the WAV Series probe mark inspection and metrology capabilities were incorporated into the NSX Series. This resulted in a
comprehensive wafer and die inspection solution for use throughout the final manufacturing processes, including following the electrical probing
process.

Revenues from the NSX Series represented 54%, 50% and 45% of our net revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

3Di Series Automated wafer bump inspection and metrology systems. Our 3Di automated inspection and metrology systems
provide two-dimensional ( 2D ) and three-dimensional ( 3D ) inspection and metrology capabilities designed for the
latest and most advanced microelectronic device packaging processes, including flip-chip wafer bumping. In 2002, we
enhanced this product family with the introduction of entry level and higher performance models of the 3Di Series.

The 3Di Series incorporates the 2D defect inspection capabilities of the NSX Series and features our proprietary Rapid Confocal Sensor ( RCS )
3D inspection technology. This patent-pending technology, conceived by merging the proven concepts of confocal microscopy with innovative
optical design and proprietary software, has established its high speed, high accuracy 3D inspection capabilities in the production lines of

leading microelectronic device manufacturers. The 3Di Series is available with up to 300mm wafer handling in addition to film frame handling
and may be tailored toward specific customer applications with various options and features.

Revenues from the 3Di Series represented 6%, 15% and 37% of our net revenues during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

VersaScope Advanced microscope-based imaging system. As part of our acquisition of Counterpoint Solutions, Inc. ( CSI ) in
July 2003, we acquired the VersaScope, a product that was in design at CSI. The VersaScope operates with the
Harmony software system developed by CSI to automate the control of advanced microscope-based inspection
equipment and facilitate the processing of defect images. The VersaScope is designed to offer a unique combination

of ease of use, flexibility and advanced microscope imaging, enabling technicians to more quickly review, classify and
annotate defects. When the VersaScope is coupled with our broad array of high performance defect detection systems,
the combination provides customers with a unique, efficient and complete inspection and review solution.

YieldPilot Defect review and process analysis software. YieldPilot, which provides a means for efficient defect review and
classification, continues to play a pivotal role in enabling our customers to make process-enhancing decisions. By
filtering, classifying and then presenting only the relevant data, YieldPilot assists process engineers in quickly and
effectively making the decisions that lead to yield enhancements. Currently, over 60% of our systems are delivered
with the optional YieldPilot package.

DMSVision Fab-wide data management software. In July 2004 we acquired DMS Vision software division of Inspex, Inc
( DMSVision ), a fab-wide data management system installed at over 25 customer sites worldwide, which enables
device manufacturers to find the source of killer defects and manufacturing problems by centralizing all inspection,
electrical test and manufacturing information. DMSVision adds another dimension to our detection-to-decision
process, providing the fab wide information to enable process enhancing decisions. DMSVision is also the platform
for our next generation of tool-centric defect and process data management solutions to help review and classify
topside, edge, and backside defects now being found with our advanced macro inspection systems.

CV Series Cassette verification and metrology. The CV Series is designed to automatically verify critical wafer carrier
dimensions. Using advanced machine vision technology and proprietary software, our CV Series systems identify
out-of-tolerance cassettes and up to 300mm Front Opening Unified Pods ( FOUPs ), allowing microelectronic device
manufacturers to remove dimensionally defective carriers and thereby decrease wafer damage and improve yield.
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Research and Development

Our success depends on our ability to effectively develop and commercialize new technologies and products. Our research and development
activities emphasize application development and new product introductions in collaboration with our customers. Our engineering teams support
these efforts with software development, machine vision technology, optics, lighting and precision motion control expertise. Our recent product
development efforts resulted in several new product enhancements within our NSX Series, AXi Series, and YieldPilot product lines as well as
new capabilities that expanded our front-end fab and all-surface applications. New product introductions in 2004 include the AXi-935 for
front-end advanced macro defect inspection and the NSX-115 for post-fab advanced macro defect inspection. We also placed significant effort
into leveraging our core automated inspection technologies into other applications within the microelectronic device manufacturing process and
anticipate announcing new products related to this effort in 2005. We spent 20%, 26% and 39% of our net revenues on research and
development during 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively.

To maintain technology leadership and pursue customer driven opportunities for the application of our core technologies, we plan to continue to
invest in research and development to bring new products to market and add additional capabilities to extend our market leadership and meet our
customers product characterization needs.

Customers

We have sold our systems to many of the leading microelectronic device manufacturers throughout the world. Customers accounting for more
than 10% of net revenues during 2004 included Samsung Electronics Corporation, STMicroelectronics, and Taiwan Semiconductor
Manufacturing Co. Customers accounting for more than 10% of net revenues during 2003 included Samsung Electronics Corporation, Texas
Instruments Incorporated, Intel Corporation, and Advanced Semiconductor Engineering, Inc. Customers accounting for more than 10% of net
revenues during 2002 included Intel Corporation and Silicon Precision Industries Co., Ltd. There were no other customers, which

accounted for greater than 10% of net revenues during 2004, 2003, or 2002.

Net revenues by geographic region were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

United States 27 % 24 % 48 %
Taiwan 35 % 38 % 37 %
South Korea 17 % 14 %
Japan 4 % 7 % 4 %
Rest of Asia 12 % 5 % 4 %
Europe and other 5 % 12 % 7 %

100 % 100 % 100 %

Sales, Service and Marketing

We provide direct sales, service and field application support through strategically placed offices in key regions throughout the world. In the
United States, these include our offices in New York, Texas, Massachusetts, and our corporate headquarters in Minnesota, and internationally
through our offices in Taiwan and South Korea. In addition, we have key service and support personnel based locally near key semiconductor
production facilities around the world.

We market all of our products in Japan through Marubeni Solutions Corporation ( Marubeni ). We have an international distributor agreement
with Marubeni that grants them an exclusive territory,
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provides for price and payment procedures, specifies the applicable warranty procedures and contains a confidentiality provision. In conjunction
with the March 2004 opening of our office in South Korea we terminated the remainder of our distributor agreement with Metron Technology
B.V. Previously, we had sales and service personnel in South Korea supporting Metron Technology B.V. With respect to our European
distributors, we terminated our informal agreement with High Tech Trade, Gmbh, effective September 2004, our distributor agreements with
Quasys AG effective April 2004, and Firfax Systems effective January 2003.

Backlog

Our backlog was $28.4 million as of December 31, 2004, as compared to $19.1 million as of December 31, 2003. Our backlog consists of orders
for which we have accepted purchase orders and have either assigned shipment dates within the next twelve months or under which systems
have shipped but have not yet met customer specifications. These orders are subject to cancellation or delay by the customer without penalty. In
addition, since only a portion of our revenues for any quarter represents systems that were in backlog as of the beginning of that quarter, we do
not believe that backlog is necessarily an accurate indication of our future revenues and performance.

Competition

While we believe that we are currently the leader in the commercialization of solutions for the inspection of advanced macro defects of 0.5
micron and larger, several other firms also manufacture similar products. Our primary competitors in final manufacturing, testing and solutions
are Camtek Ltd., Hitachi, Ltd., ICOS Vision Systems, Robotic Vision Systems, Inc., and Toray Industries, Inc. In the front-end market, we
compete with larger competitors, such as KLLA-Tencor Corporation and Rudolph Technologies, Inc., for certain macro applications.

Significant competitive factors in our market include performance, ease of use, development of new technologies, established customer base,
application support, customer service, product flexibility, price and ability to deliver products on a timely basis. We believe we compete
favorably with respect to these factors, but must continue to develop and design new and improved products in order to maintain our competitive
position.

Manufacturing

We perform system design, assembly and testing at our headquarters in Bloomington, Minnesota. We utilize an outsourcing strategy for the
manufacture of many of our components and major subassemblies. Our manufacturing activities are considered horizontal in nature and consist
primarily of testing and assembling parts, components and subassemblies acquired from our vendors, and integrating these parts into our
products. Our engineering and manufacturing teams work together to continually improve the modularity of our systems and reduce the number
of discrete components and subassemblies required to serve our various product families. To meet specific customer requirements, we often
manufacture products that include custom system engineering and software development. Our manufacturing operations do not require a major
investment in capital equipment.

We use numerous domestic and international vendors to supply parts for the manufacture and support of our products. Although we make
reasonable efforts to ensure that parts are available from multiple qualified suppliers, this is not always possible. Accordingly, some key parts
are obtained only from a single supplier or a limited group of suppliers. We endeavor to minimize the risk of product interruption by selecting
and qualifying alternative suppliers for key parts, monitoring the financial condition of key suppliers and maintaining appropriate inventories of
key parts. We continually strive to reduce our component lead time and build cycles to maximize the efficiency of our manufacturing operations.
We
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continue to work with our key suppliers to significantly reduce lead times and to implement supplier stocking programs. If we do not receive a
sufficient quantity of parts in a timely and cost-effective manner to meet production requirements, our results of operations may be materially
and adversely affected. We do not maintain long-term supply contracts with any of our suppliers. We do enter into blanket purchase orders with
key suppliers for parts with long lead times. These purchase orders are generally to lock-in prices and provide the supplier with visibility of
future requirements.

Intellectual Property

Proprietary information plays a significant role in the development of our products. We rely upon a combination of contract provisions and
copyright, trademark, patent and trade secret laws to protect our proprietary know-how, ideas, inventions, goodwill and rights in our solutions
and products. We also have a policy of seeking U.S. and foreign patents on technology considered of particular strategic or competitive
importance. As of January 1, 2005, we had 14 issued U.S. patents and 53 pending U.S. patent applications on our key inventions including those
associated with our key product lines. We have also applied for foreign patent rights covering our solutions and products in strategic markets.
The technological focus of the issued patents and pending applications includes general microelectronic 2D and 3D inspection techniques as
well as devices, systems and processes in the following areas: lighting, focusing, sensing, viewing, material handling, imaging, inspecting and
data manipulating. We also license non-exclusive software programs from a third party developer and incorporate them into our products.

Although we believe that the copyrights, trademarks and patents we own are of value, we do not believe that they will determine our success,
which depends principally upon our engineering, manufacturing, marketing and service skills.

Employees

As of February 28, 2005, we employed 254 people, including 101 in research and development, 51 in service, technical support and training, 40
in sales and marketing, 40 in manufacturing, and 22 in administration. We also utilize independent contractors and temporary employees. None
of our employees is represented by a labor union and we consider our employee relations to be good.

Available Information

Our website is http://www.augusttech.com. We make available free of charge, on or through our website, our annual, quarterly and current
reports, and any amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after electronically filing such reports with the Securities and
Exchange Commission. Information contained on our website is not part of this report.
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Item 2. Properties
Location Type Principal Use Square Footage = Ownership
Bloomington, MN Office, plant, Headquarters, Research and 95,437 Leased
warehouse Development, Sales and Service,
Manufacturing, Marketing and
Administration
Plano, TX Office Research and Development, Sales 10,600 Leased
and Service
Billerica, MA Office Research and Development and 7,456 Leased
Sales
Thornwood, NY Office Research and Development 1,974 Leased
Hsinchu, Taiwan Office Sales and Service 5,383 Leased
Kaohsiung, Taiwan Office Sales and Service 1,669 Leased
Gyeonggi-do, South Korea Office Sales and Service 3,189 Leased

We currently occupy 84% of our available space at the Bloomington office. We believe the facilities listed above are adequate to meet our
customer requirements, and that additional or substitute space is available on commercially reasonable terms if needed. We also believe that our
production facilities have capacity adequate for our current need.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

From time to time in the ordinary course of business, we are subject to claims, asserted or unasserted, or named as a party to lawsuits or
investigations. Litigation, in general, and intellectual property and securities litigation in particular, can be expensive and disruptive to normal
business operations. Moreover, the results of legal proceedings cannot be predicted with any certainty and in the case of more complex legal
proceedings such as intellectual property and securities litigation, the results are difficult to predict at all.

We have fully settled the commercial litigation between us and Rudolph. On September 23, 2003, we and our subsidiary, Semiconductor
Technologies & Instruments, Inc. ( STI ), filed a complaint against Rudolph and its subsidiary ISOA, Inc. ( ISOA ). In the complaint, we and STI
sought a declaratory judgment that we and STI were not using ISOA technology in our products. STI also asserted a claim for breach of contract

to recover amounts STI paid to ISOA in connection with a joint development agreement between STI and ISOA. Rudolph and ISOA filed an

answer and counterclaim, denying the allegations set forth in the complaint and claiming that ISOA was entitled to damages for STI s alleged
breach of the joint development agreement. ISOA also sought a declaratory judgment that STI and/or we were wrongfully using ISOA s

technology without compensating ISOA and that ISOA was entitled to royalty payments for use of its technology.

We acquired STI from ASTI Holdings, Ltd. ( ASTI ) in April 2003. In connection with the acquisition, ASTI agreed to indemnify us for claims
relating to STI s dispute with Rudolph and ISOA, up to a maximum value of $670,000. To secure ASTI s performance of ASTI s indemnification
obligations, an escrow was created by ASTI and us.

On July 22, 2004, we, STI, Rudolph, and ISOA agreed to settle all claims between the parties. On August 6, 2004 we entered into a final
settlement agreement with Rudolph. Under the terms of the confidential settlement, ASTI made a one-time payment out of the escrow to
Rudolph in the amount of
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$503,000. We, STI, Rudolph, and ISOA agreed to release any and all claims against each other relating to the joint development agreement and
to dismiss all claims asserted in the litigation with prejudice.

August Technology Corporation and each of its directors, Jeff O Dell, James Bernards, Roger Gower, Michael Wright and Linda Hall Whitman,
have been named as defendants in two separate lawsuits that purport to be class actions claims on behalf of our shareholders. We received a
summons and complaint with respect to the first of these proceedings on February 4, 2005 and the second on February 14, 2005. Both lawsuits
are brought in Minnesota State Court and claim that the directors have breached their fiduciary duties to our shareholders in connection with
their actions in agreeing to the proposed merger with Nanometrics Incorporated. The plaintiffs in both actions seek various forms of injunctive
relief including an order enjoining us and our directors from consummating the merger with Nanometrics. August Technology and its directors
believe the lawsuits are without merit and plan to vigorously defend against the claims.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
There were no matters submitted to a vote of our shareholders during the quarter ended December 31, 2004.
Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following sets forth the names and ages of our current executive officers in addition to information regarding their positions, their periods of
service in such positions and their business experience for the past five years. Executive officers generally serve in office for terms of
approximately one year.

Name Age Position

Jeff L. O Dell 43 Chief Executive Officer and Director

Stanley D. Piekos 57 Chief Financial Officer, Treasurer and Secretary

David L. Klenk 40 President, Chief Operating Officer and Assistant Secretary

Scott A. Gabbard 38 Chief Accounting Officer, Assistant Secretary and Vice President, Finance
Cory M. Watkins 32 Chief Technology Officer

D. Mayson Brooks 46 Vice President, Global Sales and Field Operations

Jeffrey T. Nelson 49 Vice President, Manufacturing

Jeff L. O Dell was one of our co-founders and has served as our Chief Executive Officer since 1992 and Chairman of
the Board since 1994. From 1992 to July 2001, Mr. O Dell also served as President. From August 1987 to

August 1992, Mr. O Dell was Director of Sales and Marketing for MicroVision Corporation, which develops and
manufactures robotic and inspection systems. From February 1985 to August 1987, Mr. O Dell was a Field
Applications Engineer for Cognex Corporation, which designs, develops and markets machine vision systems that are
used to automate a wide range of manufacturing processes. From March 1984 to February 1985, Mr. O Dell served as
a Systems Analyst for Control Data Corporation.

Stanley D. Piekos joined us in April 2003 as Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer. From February 1998 until

March 2003, Mr. Piekos served as Senior Vice President, Finance and Corporate Development and Chief Financial
Officer at American Superconductor, a developer and manufacturer of products using superconductor technology for
the electric power industry. From May 1994 to February 1998, Mr. Piekos was the Chief Financial Officer for Brooks
Automation, a supplier of

15

19



Edgar Filing: AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORP - Form 10-K

automation solutions for the semiconductor industry. From June 1985 to May 1994, Mr. Piekos worked for Helix Technology Corporation, a
manufacturer of products based on cryogenic and vacuum technology, serving as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since 1991. He also
held financial and general management positions with W.R. Grace & Co.

David L. Klenk joined us in April 1993 and has served as our President since July 2001 and Chief Operating Officer
since April 1999. Mr. Klenk served on our Board of Directors from 1994 to March 2000. Mr. Klenk oversees the
engineering, manufacturing, sales, customer service and employee services groups. Prior to becoming our Chief
Operating Officer, Mr. Klenk served as our Director of Operations.

Scott A. Gabbard became our Vice President of Finance in July 2002. Mr. Gabbard also currently serves as our Chief
Accounting Officer. Prior to becoming Chief Accounting Officer and Vice President of Finance, Mr. Gabbard served
as our Corporate Controller since joining us in February 2000 and as Acting Chief Financial Officer from May 2002
to April 2003. From September 1995 through January 2000, Mr. Gabbard was Assistant Controller with U.S. Office
Products, an international supplier of office products and business services. From August 1993 to September 1995,
Mr. Gabbard was an auditor with Price Waterhouse, LLP.

Cory M. Watkins became our Chief Technology Officer in February 2004. Mr. Watkins joined us in October 1997 and
served as Director of Advanced Technology Development from January 2002 until February 2004. Mr. Watkins has
been responsible for the development of automated wafer inspection including the NSX, 3Di and AXi product lines,
and is the primary or secondary inventor on numerous patent filings. From June 1990 to October 1997, Mr. Watkins
was employed by Loram Maintenance of Way, a railroad maintenance company. He served in various capacities with
Loram Maintenance of Way, most recently as Chief Engineer of the Advanced Technology Group, developing rail and
wheel inspection technologies.

D. Mayson Brooks became our Vice President of Global Sales and Field Operations in February 2002. Prior to becoming
Vice President of Global Sales and Field Operations, Mr. Brooks served as our Vice President of Sales and Marketing
since July 1999. Prior to joining us, from June 1987 through June 1999, Mr. Brooks worked in various managerial
capacities for Air Products and Chemicals, Inc., most recently as Commercial Manager, European electronics division.
Mr. Brooks served from June 1981 to May 1987 in the United States Navy and was awarded two achievement medals.

Jeffrey T. Nelson became our Vice President of Manufacturing in November of 2004. From September 1998 through
March 2004, Mr. Nelson was Director of Operations for Medallion, a subsidiary of the Elkay Corporation, a producer
of various household products. From April 1996 to September 1998, Mr. Nelson was Director of Operations for FSI, a
manufacturer of semi conductor capital equipment. From March 1978 to April 1996 Mr. Nelson held a variety of
manufacturing management positions with Unisys Corporation.
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PART II

Item 5. Market for Registrant s Equity, Related Shareholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Market Information

Our common stock, no par value (the Common Stock ), has traded under the symbol AUGT on the NASDAQ National Market since our initial
public offering on June 14, 2000. There was no market for our Common Stock prior to that date.

The following table sets forth the reported high and low closing sale prices for shares of our Common Stock on the NASDAQ National Market
during the indicated quarters. Our closing market price on February 28, 2005 was $12.23.

2004 2003

High Low High Low
First Quarter $ 2345 $ 1247 $ 538 $ 220
Second Quarter 17.24 11.25 6.23 345
Third Quarter 12.51 6.87 14.40 6.73
Fourth Quarter 10.53 6.14 20.69 13.82

Holders

As of February 28, 2005, there were approximately 200 holders of record of our Common Stock.

Dividends

We have not declared or paid cash dividends on our Common Stock to date and do not anticipate paying cash dividends for the foreseeable
future. We currently intend to retain earnings, if any, to support the development of our business. Payment of future dividends, if any, will be at

the discretion of our board of directors after taking into account various factors, including our financial condition, operating results and current
and anticipated cash needs.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The consolidated statement of operations data set forth below for each of the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 and the
consolidated balance sheet data as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 are derived from the audited consolidated financial statements, included
elsewhere in this Form 10-K. The consolidated statement of operations data set forth below for the years ended December 31, 2001 and 2000
and the balance sheet data as of December 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000 are derived from audited consolidated financial statements, which are not
included in this Form 10-K. You should read the data set forth below in conjunction with the audited consolidated financial statements and notes
thereto and Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations appearing elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

Years Ended December 31,
2004(1) 2003(2) 2002 2001 2000
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Net revenues $ 68,443 $ 40,323 $ 25,058 $ 29,784 $ 31,666
Cost of revenues 31,925 18,290 11,068 12,039 12,594
Gross profit 36,518 22,033 13,990 17,745 19,072
Selling, general and administrative expenses 22,798 14,359 13,013 12,379 10,426
Research and development expenses 13,561 10,430 9,847 7,940 6,945
Operating income (loss) 159 (2,756 ) (8,870 ) (2,574 ) 1,701
Interest income 847 407 624 1,427 978
Other income (expense) 73 17 )
Income (loss) before provision for (benefit from) income taxes 1,079 (2,349 ) (8,246 ) (1,164 ) 2,679
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes®) 277 687 (813 ) 807
Net income (loss) $ 802 $ (2349 ) $ 893 ) $ (351 ) $ 1872
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ 005 $ 16 ) $ (@©69 ) $ (©03 ) $ 0.17
Diluted $ 0.04 $ (@©16 ) $ (©69 ) $ (003 ) $ 0.16
Weighted average common shares:
Basic 17,755 14,381 13,033 12,723 11,049
Diluted 18,211 14,381 13,033 12,723 11,770
December 31,
2004 2003 2002 2001 2000
(In thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheets Data:
Cash, cash equivalents and marketable debt securities $ 50422 $ 63,850 $ 18,777 $ 25,857 $ 29,193
Working capital 54,962 62,819 29,376 37,171 36,872
Total assets 95,800 88,947 39,510 47,155 47,897
Total debt
Total shareholders equity 81,465 78,477 34,867 42,523 41,685

M onJ uly 27, 2004 we acquired substantially all of the assets of DMSVision. DMSVision s results of operations have been included with our results of
operations since the date of acquisition.

@ on April 15, 2003 we acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of STI. On July 3, 2003 we acquired substantially all of the assets of CSI. STI and CSI s
results of operations have been included with our results of operations since the date of acquisition.

() We recorded a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets in the second quarter of 2002. The recording of the valuation allowance resulted in a
provision for income taxes, rather than the recording of a tax benefit on the pre-tax loss. We have subsequently continued to record a full valuation allowance
against our deferred tax assets. The Company has recorded a provision for income taxes of $277 in 2004 primarily to provide for foreign and alternative minimum
taxes.
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Item 7. Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the audited consolidated
financial statements and the notes thereto and with the Cautionary Statements section included elsewhere in this Form 10-K.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America,
we must make decisions which impact the reported amounts and the related disclosures. Such decisions include the selection of the appropriate
accounting principles to be applied and the assumptions on which to base accounting estimates. In reaching such decisions, we apply judgment
based on our understanding and analysis of the relevant circumstances. Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements provides a summary of
the significant accounting policies followed in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

Overview

We are a world-class provider of automated defect detection and product characterization systems for microelectronic device manufacturers. Our
systems provide manufacturers with information that enables process-enhancing decisions, ultimately lowering manufacturing costs and
decreasing time-to-market. We have traditionally provided systems to address the automated inspection needs of the early stages of the final
manufacturing or back-end of the microelectronic device manufacturing process. These needs were met primarily with our NSX Series and 3Di
Series of products. We have introduced the AXi Series and the E20 for edge and B20 for backside inspection systems (collectively, the All
Surface Inspection System ) for advanced macro defect detection primarily in the front-end of the wafer manufacturing process. When used in
conjunction with one another these systems allow a manufacturer to inspect the top, edge and back of a wafer s surface. We believe we are the
first to offer all surface wafer inspection. During 2004, we made a significant investment supporting front-end system demonstrations at many
large semiconductor manufacturers, which allows these customers to evaluate the benefits these systems provide. We expect these
demonstrations will lead to increased revenues six to nine months after shipment.

We complement this broad inspection capability with an expanding suite of software tools designed to enhance the speed and effectiveness of
the process by which device manufacturers analyze defects, and make decisions regarding their manufacturing process to reduce or eliminate
such defects. We refer to this process as the detection-to-decision process.

In addition to internal development, we look to expand through strategic mergers and acquisitions of complementary products and technologies.

In April 2003 we completed the acquisition of Semiconductor Technologies & Instruments, Inc. ( STI ), enhancing our probe mark inspection and
metrology capabilities. In July 2003 we acquired the assets of Counterpoint Solutions, Inc. ( CSI ), including the design for the VersaScope a
defect review system for advanced microscope-based imaging and analysis. In July 2004 we acquired certain assets of the DMSVision software
division of Inspex, Inc ( DMSVision ). We plan to use the DMSVision software to further expand and enhance our current defect analysis
software offerings.

Our business is subject to the highly cyclical nature of the microelectronic device manufacturing markets we serve. These cycles are caused by
significant, and often rapid, fluctuations in the supply and demand of microelectronic devices driven by such factors as changes in technology
and global economic conditions. As a result of these fluctuations, our quarterly orders and revenues have fluctuated dramatically. After a three
year industry downturn we began to experience an industry recovery during the second half of 2003, which resulted in a significant increase in
revenues and orders during each quarter until the third quarter of 2004. In the third quarter of 2004 we encountered yet another slowdown
resulting in a decrease in the rate of orders being received, and a delay in shipments of certain systems under previously received orders. This
resulted in a sequential decrease in quarterly revenues and a lower level of
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orders in backlog, as compared to the end of the second quarter. In response to this slowdown, we implemented certain cost cutting initiatives
during the fourth quarter of 2004. These initiatives included staffing reductions, reductions in management compensation, cuts in discretionary
spending and mandatory time-off for employees (the Cost Cutting Initiatives ). We estimate that these actions resulted in cost savings of
approximately $475,000 during the fourth quarter. Despite the slowdown in the third quarter of 2004, we experienced a 58.4% and 69.7%
overall increase in the level of orders and revenues, respectively, during 2004, and have a record level of backlog at December 31, 2004 of $28.4
million, as compared to $19.1 million at December 31, 2003.

Management focuses on several key financial metrics in evaluating our financial condition and operating performance. Although we do not
believe backlog is always an accurate indication of future revenues and performance, since only a portion of our revenues for any quarter include
systems that were in backlog as of the beginning of that quarter, we do closely monitor the level of orders both geographically and by product
line and in relation to the level of revenues, referred to as the book-to-bill ratio. During the fourth quarter of 2004 our book-to-bill ratio was
above parity. A book-to-bill ratio greater than parity indicates a growing level of backlog. In addition to monitoring our level of orders and
backlog, we focus on revenues by product family compared to prior-period and current-year plans, year-over-year revenue growth compared to
the overall semiconductor equipment industry, operating profit or loss performance compared with prior-period and current-year plans and the
level of operating cash flow.

Future quarterly and annual results will continue to be impacted by fluctuations in supply and demand of microelectronic devices, the timing of
new product announcements and releases by us or our competitors, market acceptance of new or enhanced versions of our products, changes in
the pricing of our products and the timing and level of our research and development expenditures. We cannot predict the sustainability or depth
of these fluctuations and their impact on our business, and/or the overall industry s rate of growth. If we are unable to effectively manage our
resources and production capacity during an industry cycle, there could be a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Merger Activities

On January 21, 2005, we entered into a Merger Agreement with Nanometrics, Incorporated ( Nanometrics ), pursuant to which Nanometrics will
reincorporate under Delaware law and August Technology Corporation will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nanometrics. In connection
with this transaction, Nanometric s name will be changed to August Nanometrics. Each share of our common stock will be converted into the
right to receive 0.6401 of a share of August Nanometrics common stock. August Nanometrics will make a cash payment to our shareholders for
any fractional shares of August Nanometrics common stock they would otherwise be entitled to receive instead of issuing fractional shares.

On January 27, 2005, we received a letter from Paul F. McLaughlin, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Rudolph Technologies, Inc.

( Rudolph ), stating that Rudolph is prepared to enter into a merger with us based on a share exchange ratio of 0.6239 share of Rudolph stock for
each share of our common stock (equivalent to $10.50 per share of our common stock based on the closing price of Rudolph stock on

January 27, 2005). The letter stated that each of our shareholders may elect to receive all cash, stock or a combination of cash and stock, subject
to proration based on total cash consideration of $40 million.

Also on January 27, 2005, Rudolph issued a press release with proposed terms slightly different from those described in the letter. The press
release stated that Rudolph is prepared to enter into a merger with us whereby each of our shareholders will receive the value of $2.16 per share
in cash and 0.4955 per share in Rudolph common stock (equivalent to $10.50 per share of our Common Stock, based on the closing
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price of Rudolph stock on January 27, 2005). The press release stated that each of our shareholders would have the option to elect to receive all
cash, stock or a combination of cash and stock, subject to proration based on total cash consideration of $40 million.

Our Board of Directors has agreed, based on the advice of its financial advisors and legal counsel, to further examine the Rudolph offer provided
that Rudolph first executes a confidentiality agreement in the form required by the Merger Agreement with Nanometrics. As of the date of this
filing, we have not reached agreement on the form of confidentiality agreement and no discussions regarding Rudolph s offer have taken place.

On February 9, 2005, we received a letter from Kenneth Schroeder, President and Chief Executive Officer of KLA-Tencor Corporation ( KLA ),
regarding KLLA s interest in pursuing a merger with us. The letter stated that KL A proposed to acquire us in a transaction in which our
shareholders would receive $11.50 per share. KLLA also stated that it would be willing to consider using stock as consideration.

Our Board of Directors has agreed, based on the advice of its financial advisors and legal counsel, to further examine the KLA offer provided
that KLA first executes a confidentiality agreement in the form required by the Merger Agreement with Nanometrics. As of the date of this
filing, we have not reached agreement on the form of confidentiality agreement and no discussions regarding KLA s offer have taken place.

Results of Operations
The following table presents the consolidated statements of operations as a percentage of net revenues.

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Net revenues 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Cost of revenues 46.6 45.4 44.2
Gross profit 534 54.6 55.8
Selling, general and administrative expenses 33.3 35.6 52.0
Research and development expenses 19.8 25.8 39.3
Operating income (loss) 0.3 6.8 ) 355 )
Interest income 1.2 1.0 2.5
Other income 0.1
Income (loss) before provision for income taxes 1.6 6.8 ) (33.0 )
Provision for income taxes 0.4 2.7
Net income (loss) 1.2 % (S8 )Y (357 )%

Year ended December 31, 2004 compared to the year ended December 31, 2003

Net Revenues. Net revenues increased $28.1 million, or 69.7%, to $68.4 million in 2004, from $40.3 million in 2003.
The increase in net revenues was primarily due to increased sales of higher throughput NSX Series systems and all
surface inspection systems. Revenues from these product lines increased primarily as a result of higher sales into the
front end of the wafer fabrication process, and an overall increase in demand due to the industry recovery that began
in the second half of 2003 and continued through the first half of 2004. Revenues derived from systems sold for front
end wafer fab applications accounted for 44% of total revenues in 2004, as compared to 21% in 2003. Revenues from
the NSX Series and all surface inspection systems were 54% and 20% of total net revenues in 2004, respectively, as
compared to 50% and 12%, respectively, in 2003. Net revenues derived from international sales represented 73% and
76% of total net revenues in 2004 and 2003, respectively. International net revenues
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were primarily the result of sales to Taiwan and the rest of Asia, which comprised 68% and 64% of total net revenues in 2004 and 2003,
respectively.

Gross Margin. Gross margin decreased to 53.4% of net revenues in 2004 as compared to 54.6% of net revenues in
2003. Gross margins decreased 1.3 percentage points as a result of the write-off of $870,000 of inventory related to
the WAV Series product line, as the WAV s functionality has been integrated into the NSX Series product line. In
addition, we have experienced pricing pressure primarily related to our inspection systems sold into final
manufacturing applications as competitors have continued to enter this market. These decreases were partially offset
by increased revenue from our YieldPilot software. We expect gross margins in the next year to be between 53% and
57%.

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $8.4 million, or 58.8%, to
$22.8 million, or 33.3% of net revenues, in 2004, from $14.4 million, or 35.6% of net revenues, in 2003. The increase
in expense dollars was primarily the result of costs associated with (i) new hires and contractors in our field service
and sales groups to support increased revenues, customer demonstrations in front-end wafer processing applications
and our direct sales and service office in South Korea, which opened in March 2004; (ii) the ongoing operations of
three acquisitions completed subsequent to the first quarter of 2003; (iii) higher variable costs associated with
increased revenues; and (iv) compliance with the Sarbanes Oxley Act. The increase was partially offset by the Cost
Cutting Initiatives. We expect selling, general and administrative expense dollars to increase in future quarters,
primarily as a result of variable expenses associated with an expected higher level of revenues and higher recruiting,
relocation and compensation costs related to the retention and hiring of employees. However, selling, general and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revenues are expected to decrease, as revenues are expected to increase at a
higher rate than the increase in selling, general and administrative expenses.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses increased $3.2 million, or 30.0%, to $13.6 million, or
19.8% of net revenues, in 2004, from $10.4 million, or 25.8% of net revenues, in 2003. The increase in expense
dollars was primarily due to employee compensation and related benefits associated with the hiring of additional staff
and an increase in the use of outside contractors to complete certain stages of development of the E20 for edge and
B20 for backside inspection systems and VersaScope, and further enhancements to both the NSX Series and AXi
Series. In addition, expenses increased due to three acquisitions completed subsequent to the first quarter of 2003. The
increase was partially offset by savings from the Cost Cutting Initiatives. We plan to maintain our commitment to
invest in the continued expansion of our business in the front-end of the wafer manufacturing process and expansion
of our suite of software solutions. As a result, we currently anticipate that research and development expense dollars
will increase in future quarters. However, research and development expenses as a percentage of revenues are
expected to decrease, as revenues are expected to increase at a higher rate than the increase in research and
development expenses.

Interest income, net. Net interest income increased $440,000 to $847,000 in 2004 from $407,000 in 2003. The increase
in interest income was primarily due to an increase in overall investment balances, as a result of the proceeds received
from a follow-on public offering of our Common Stock that was completed on September 23, 2003 and the
underwriters exercise of the over-allotment option on October 21, 2003 (the Offering ).
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Income Taxes. As a result of historical operating losses and uncertainty as to the extent of profitability in future periods,
we began to record a valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets in the second quarter of 2002 and continue to
do so at December 31, 2004. As a result, we did not reflect a provision for income taxes during 2003, and have
recorded a provision for income taxes of $277,000 for 2004, primarily to reflect foreign income tax owed. Statement

of Financial Accounting Standards ( SFAS ) No. 109 Accounting for Income Taxes, requires the establishment of a
valuation allowance to reflect the likelihood of the realization of deferred tax assets. We currently expect to have an
effective income tax rate of between ten and fifteen percent in 2005, primarily to recognize alternative minimum taxes
and foreign income tax owed. As of December 31, 2004 we had recorded a valuation allowance of $8.5 million.

Year ended December 31, 2003 compared to the year ended December 31, 2002

Net Revenues. Net revenues increased $15.2 million, or 60.9%, to $40.3 million in 2003, from $25.1 million in 2002.
The increase in net revenues was primarily the result of higher sales of new models within the NSX Series which were
introduced in the middle of 2002 and revenues from the AXi Series, which was introduced in the first quarter of 2003.
Although the AXi Series initially shipped in the first quarter of 2003, we did not begin to recognize revenue until the
second half of 2003. Revenues in 2003 from the NSX Series and AXi Series were $20.0 million and $4.7 million, of
total revenues, respectively, as compared to $11.2 million and none, respectively, in 2002. Overall, revenues from
products introduced in the last two years increased to $19.0 million, or 47%, in 2003 as compared to $12.1 million, or
48%, in 2002. Revenues also increased due to sales of products acquired in the STI and CSI acquisitions. The increase
was partially offset by lower revenues from the 3Di Series. Net revenues derived from international sales represented
76% and 52% of total net revenues in 2003 and 2002, respectively. International net revenues were primarily the
result of sales to Taiwan and the rest of Asia, which comprised 64% and 45% of total net revenues in 2003 and 2002,
respectively.

Gross Profit. Gross margin decreased to 54.6% of net revenues in 2003 as compared to 55.8% of net revenues in 2002.
The decrease in gross margin percentage was primarily due to (i) a higher level of write-offs of obsolete and excess
inventory; (ii) an increase in the number of NSX Series systems that included subsystem options manufactured by
third parties, which have lower gross margins than our core inspection systems; and (iii) lower margins on the AXi
Series systems sold under our joint development program with a leading device manufacturer.

Selling, General and Administrative. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $1.4 million, or 10.3%, to
$14.4 million, or 35.6% of net revenues, in 2003, from $13.0 million, or 52.0% of net revenues in 2002. The expense
dollars in 2003 increased due to higher variable costs, such as sales commissions and variable employee compensation
costs associated with the increased level of revenues, recruiting and relocation costs associated with hiring new
employees, costs associated with the ongoing operations and amortization of purchased technology from the STI and
CSI acquisitions, and costs associated with an increase in the number of systems being evaluated by customers. The
increase was partially offset by the fact that the prior year included the write-off of costs related to potential
acquisitions, the modification of our distributor agreement with Metron Technology B.V and higher employee
severance costs.

Research and Development. Research and development expenses increased $583,000, or 5.9%, to $10.4 million, or 25.8%
of net revenues, in 2003, from $9.8 million, or 39.3% of net revenues, in 2002. The expense dollars increased
primarily due to depreciation and amortization expense related to assets and software capitalized subsequent to the
beginning of 2002, employee salaries and related benefits associated with the employees of STI and CSI and higher
travel costs related to visiting customer locations. These increases were partially offset by a decrease in the use of
outside services and contractors in the development of new and existing products. We believe our future operating
results will depend significantly on our ability to produce products and provide services that have a competitive
advantage in
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our marketplace. To do this, we believe that we must continue to make substantial investments in our research and development efforts. Our
investments in new technology and existing product enhancements are intended to enable our customers to achieve a higher return on their
capital investments and higher productivity through cost-effective, leading edge technology solutions.

Interest income, net. Net interest income decreased $217,000 to $407,000 in 2003 from $624,000 in 2002. The decrease
in interest income was due to lower rates of return earned on investment balances in 2003 as compared to 2002 and
lower average investment balances in 2003.

Income Taxes. There was no benefit for income taxes in 2003 compared to a provision for income taxes of $687,000, or
an effective tax rate of 8.3%, in 2002. The provision for income taxes in 2002, rather than a benefit from income taxes
related to the pretax loss, is due to the recording of a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets, in the second
quarter of 2002.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2004 our principal sources of liquidity consisted of cash, cash equivalents and investments in marketable debt securities of
$50.4 million, compared to $63.9 million at December 31, 2003, a decrease of $13.5 million. During 2004, working capital decreased to $55.0
million as compared to $62.8 million at December 31, 2003. The decrease was primarily due to a decrease in cash and equivalents and
short-term investments to fund operations and capital expenditures and increased customer deposits and deferred revenues, partially offset by
increased accounts receivable and inventories. During the next twelve months, and beyond, we intend to utilize our current sources of liquidity
to fund operations, specifically to enhance our position in the front-end wafer fabrication process. We have no outstanding debt at December 31,
2004. Our liquidity is affected by many factors, some of which are based on the normal ongoing operations of our business, the most significant
of which includes the timing of the collection of receivables, the level of inventories, capital expenditures and acquisitions.

Accounts Receivable. Our accounts receivable increased $4.5 million from December 31, 2003 to December 31, 2004.
Our days sales outstanding ( DSO ) during 2004 was 34 days. This compares to a DSO of 50 days in 2003. The
decrease in DSO is primarily due to the timely collection of our accounts receivable in 2004. The increase in accounts
receivable resulted in a use of cash of $4.5 million during 2004, as we have funded shipments for increased revenues
prior to receiving payments from customers. Due to the high mix of international revenues during current and prior
quarters, which generally require a longer time for collection, we believe our DSO will be between 55 and 65 days in
future quarters.

Inventories. Inventories increased $8.5 million from December 31, 2003 to December 31, 2004. The increase is
primarily due to the need to support new product introductions, increased backlog and increased demonstration
equipment at customers under evaluation, primarily in front-end wafer processing applications.

Inventories at Customers under Purchase Orders. Inventories at customers under purchase orders increased $1.7 million from
December 31, 2003 to December 31, 2004, primarily due to shipments of models within our NSX Series that have not
yet qualified for revenue recognition. We anticipate that a portion of this inventory will be recognized as revenue
during the first quarter of 2005. We also expect that this inventory will increase as shipments of newly introduced
products increase.

Capital Expenditures. Our capital expenditures during 2004 were $5.0 million, consisting primarily of the capitalization
of finished goods that have been transferred to engineering for test and characterization, to customer service for
training and to sales for customer application studies. This equipment is expected to be utilized for these purposes for
its estimated life, generally three years. Our total capital expenditures, including the capitalization of finished goods,
are expected to be between $3.0 million and $4.0 million in
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2005, as we continue to expand the use of internal test and development equipment and enhance our facilities to better serve our customers.

Acquisitions. As a result of the acquisition of DMSVision in July 2004, we lease 7,456 square feet of space in Billerica,
Massachusetts.

Our liquidity is also affected by factors beyond our control related to the uncertainties of global economies and the cyclical nature of the
semiconductor and microelectronic industries. Although liquidity requirements will fluctuate based on the timing and extent of all of these
factors and others, management believes that existing cash and investment balances will be adequate to satisfy our existing liquidity
requirements for at least the next twelve months.

The following table summarizes our future cash payments due under contractual obligations as of December 31, 2004:

Operating Purchase Open Purchase
Leases Obligations Orders Total
(In thousands)
2005 $ 794 $ 4424 $ 3,435 $ 8,653
2006 670 670
2007 621 621
2008 621 621
2009 628 628
Thereafter 1,503 1,503
Total $ 42837 $ 4424 $ 3,435 $ 12,696

The purchase obligations are for the purchase of goods and services. Although we are primarily liable for payments on the above operating
leases and purchase obligations, based on historic operating performance and forecasted future cash flows, management believes the exposure to
losses, if any, under these arrangements is not material.

The open purchase orders displayed in the table represent amounts we anticipate will become payable within the next year for goods and
services we have negotiated for delivery.

Cash Flows. During 2004, net cash used in operating activities was $7.8 million, which resulted primarily from the
increases in inventories and accounts receivable, and a decrease in accounts payable, partially offset by a reduction in
customer deposits and deferred revenues, and an increase in depreciation and amortization. Net cash provided by
investing activities was $1.2 million, due to $8.8 million of net proceeds from maturities of marketable debt securities,
$2.3 million paid to acquire DMSVision and $5.3 million of additions to property and equipment and other assets. Net
cash provided by financing activities was $2.2 million, primarily from the net proceeds received from the exercises of
stock options.

During 2003, net cash provided by operating activities was $3.8 million, which resulted primarily from the decrease in accounts receivable and
increases in accounts payable and depreciation and amortization, partially offset by the increase in inventories. Net cash used in investing
activities was $39.5 million, due to $37.0 million of net purchases of marketable securities, $1.5 million paid to acquire STI and CSI and
$981,000 of additions to property and equipment and other assets. Net cash provided by financing activities was $43.8 million, including $42.0
million of net proceeds received from the Offering and underwriters exercise of their over-allotment option.

During 2002, net cash used in operating activities was $6.5 million, which resulted primarily from our net loss and an increase in accounts
receivable, partially offset by non-cash charges, decreased prepaid expenses and other current assets and inventories. Net cash provided by
investing activities was $5.7 million, due to $7.5 million of net proceeds from the redemption and purchases of securities, partially
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offset by $1.8 million of additions to property and equipment and other assets. Net cash provided by financing activities was $1.2 million from
the proceeds of issuances of common stock in conjunction with the exercise of stock options by employees and purchases under our employee
stock purchase plan.

Critical Accounting Policies, Significant Judgments and Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make judgments, assumptions and estimates that affect the amounts reported. Note 1 of Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements describes the significant accounting policies used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Certain of these significant accounting policies are considered to be critical accounting policies, as defined below.

A critical accounting policy is defined as one that is material to the presentation of our consolidated financial statements and/or requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that could have a material effect on our financial condition and results of operations.
Specifically, critical accounting estimates have the following attributes: 1) we are required to make assumptions about matters that are highly
uncertain at the time of the estimate; and 2) different estimates we could reasonably have used, or changes in the estimate that are reasonably
likely to occur, would have a material effect on our financial condition or results of operations.

Estimates and assumptions about future events and their effects cannot be determined with certainty. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions believed to be applicable and reasonable under the circumstances. These estimates may change as
new events occur, as additional information is obtained and as our operating environment changes. These changes have historically been minor
and have been included in the consolidated financial statements as soon as they became known. In addition, management is periodically faced
with uncertainties, the outcomes of which are not within its control and will not be known for prolonged periods of time. These uncertainties are
discussed in the section below entitled Cautionary Statements.

Management believes that the following are critical accounting policies:
Revenue Recognition. We derive revenues from the sale of systems, spare parts, software and services.

System sales: We require customers, excluding our distributors, that have new inspection applications to complete
pre-shipment authorization testing of purchased systems at our facility, prior to shipment. During this testing, the
customer verifies that the system meets their specifications and authorizes shipment. For systems that have completed
pre-shipment authorization testing, revenue is recognized as follows:

« Revenue from systems that have been demonstrated to meet customer specifications during pre-shipment
authorization testing is recognized when the product has shipped, title and risk of loss have transferred to the customer
and collection of the resulting receivable is probable.

» Revenue from systems that have not been demonstrated to meet customer specifications during pre-shipment
authorization testing is recognized when title and risk of loss have transferred to the customer, installation has
occurred and collection of the resulting receivable is probable.

When a customer with a new inspection application declines pre-shipment authorization testing of a purchased system, revenue is deferred until,
title and risk of loss have transferred to the customer, installation has occurred and collection of the resulting receivable is probable.

When the customer has already accepted previous systems with the same specifications, for the same application, we do not require
pre-shipment authorization testing. Revenue is recognized when the
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product has shipped, title and risk of loss have transferred to the customer and collection of the resulting receivable is probable.

System sales are accounted for as multiple-element arrangements. In transactions that include multiple products and/or services, we allocate the
revenue to each element based on their relative fair value (or in the absence of fair value, the residual method) and recognize the associated
revenue when all revenue recognition criteria have been met for each element.

Spare parts revenue: Spare parts revenue is recognized when the parts have been shipped, title and risk of loss have
transferred to the customer and collection of the resulting receivable is probable.

Software revenue: Revenue from software license fees is recognized upon shipment if collection of the resulting
receivable is probable, the fee is fixed or determinable, and vendor-specific objective evidence exists to allocate a
portion of the total fee to any undelivered elements of the arrangement. Such undelivered elements in these
arrangements typically consist of follow-on support. If vendor-specific objective evidence does not exist for the
undelivered elements of the arrangement, all revenue is deferred and recognized ratably over the support period.

Service revenue: Service revenue is recognized after the services are performed and collection of the resulting
receivable is probable. Revenue from maintenance contracts is recognized ratably over the period of the contract.
Service revenues were less than 10% of total revenues during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

The Company s distributors are not granted price protection or a right of return.

The Company includes amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling as revenues, and the related expenses in cost of revenues.

Valuation of Accounts Receivable. We review accounts receivable to determine which are doubtful of collection. In
making the determination of the appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts, we consider our history of write-offs,
relationships with our customers and the overall credit worthiness of our customers. For the three years ended
December 31, 2004, we have had accounts receivable write-offs totaling $190,000, which included the write-off of
one receivable totaling $164,000. Changes in the credit worthiness of customers, general economic conditions and
other factors may impact the level of future write-offs. Changes in these factors could have a material adverse effect
on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Valuation of Inventory. We review inventory for obsolescence and excess quantities to determine that items deemed
obsolete or excess are appropriately reserved. In making the determination, we consider the quantity of inventory at
the balance sheet date assessed against each part s historical and future usage rates. In addition, inventories are
evaluated for potential obsolescence due to the effect of known and anticipated engineering change orders and new
products. For the three years ended December 31, 2004, we have written-off inventory totaling $1.1 million, including
$870,000 related to the discontinuance of the WAV Series. We have an allowance for obsolete and excess inventory
of $1.6 million at December 31, 2004, which represents our estimate of obsolete and excess inventory. Changes in
factors such as technology, customer demand, competitor product introductions and other matters could affect the
level of obsolete and excess inventory in the future and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial
condition and results of operations.

Warranty. We provide warranty coverage on our systems for a period of one year, including parts and labor necessary
to repair the systems during the warranty period. We account for the estimated warranty cost as a charge to cost of
revenues when revenue is recognized. The estimated warranty cost is based on our historical experience rate of

incurred expenses to corresponding system revenues. We update these estimated charges every quarter.
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Accounting for Income Taxes. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements requires us to estimate our actual
current tax exposure together with our temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of tax items for tax
and accounting. These temporary differences result in the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities, which are
included within our consolidated balance sheet. SFAS No. 109 Accounting for Income Taxes, requires the
establishment of a valuation allowance to reflect the likelihood of the realization of deferred tax assets. Significant
management judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, our deferred tax assets and liabilities
and any valuation allowance recorded against our net deferred tax assets. We evaluate the weight of all available
evidence to determine whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred income tax assets will
not be realized. During the second quarter of 2002 we recorded a valuation allowance for the full amount of our
deferred tax assets due to uncertainties surrounding our ability to utilize some or all of our deferred tax assets,
primarily consisting of certain net operating losses, as well as other temporary differences between book and tax
accounting. If the realization of deferred tax assets in the future is considered more likely than not, an adjustment to
the deferred tax assets would increase net income in the period such determination is made. In the event that actual
results differ from these estimates or we adjust these estimates in future periods, we may need to adjust our valuation
allowance, which could materially affect our financial position and results of operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements. 'We have not created, and are not party to, any special-purpose or off-balance sheet
entities for the purpose of raising capital, incurring debt or operating parts of our business that are not consolidated
into our financial statements. We do not have any arrangements or relationships with entities that are not consolidated
into our consolidated financial statements that are reasonably likely to materially affect our liquidity or the availability
of our capital resources.

Impact of Accounting Standards

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ( FASB ) issued SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), Share-Based Payment. SFAS
No. 123R is a revision of SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation and supersedes Accounting Principles Board ( APB )
Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and its related implementation guidance. SFAS No. 123R focuses primarily on
accounting for transactions in which an entity obtains employee services through share-based payment transactions. SFAS No. 123R requires a
public entity to measure the cost of employee services received in exchange for the award of equity instruments based on the fair value of the
award at the date of grant. The cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to provide services in exchange for
the award. SFAS No. 123R is effective as of the beginning of the first interim or annual reporting period that begins after June 15, 2005. While
we cannot precisely determine the impact on net earnings as a result of the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, estimated compensation expense related
to prior periods can be found in Note 1 in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Form 10-K. The ultimate amount of
increased compensation expense will be dependent on whether we adopt SFAS No. 123R using the modified prospective or retrospective
method, the number of option shares granted during the year, their timing and vesting period, and the method used to calculate the fair value of
the awards, among other factors we are currently assessing.
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In November 2003 and March 2004, the Emerging Issues Task Force ( EITF ) reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 03-1, The Meaning of
Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain Investments. The consensus requires companies to apply new guidance for
evaluating whether an investment is other-than-temporarily impaired and also requires quantitative and qualitative disclosure of debt and equity
securities, classified as available-for-sale or held-to-maturity, that are determined to be only temporarily impaired at the balance sheet date. The
Company incorporated the required disclosures for investments accounted for under SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt
and Equity Securities, as required in fiscal year 2004. In September 2004, the consensus was indefinitely delayed as it relates to the
measurement and recognition of impairment losses for all securities in the scope of paragraphs 10-20 of EITF No. 03-1. The disclosures
prescribed by EITF No. 03-1 and guidance related to impairment measurement prior to the issuance of this consensus continue to remain in
effect. Adoption is not expected to have a material impact on the Company s consolidated financial statements.

In November 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151, Inventory Costs an amendment of ARB No. 43, Chapter 4. SFAS No. 151 clarifies the
accounting for abnormal amounts of idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs, and spoilage. It also requires that allocation of fixed

production overheads to inventory be based on the normal capacity of production facilities. SFAS No. 151 is effective for inventory costs

incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. Adoption of SFAS No. 151 is not expected to have a material effect on the Company s
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Cautionary Statements

Certain statements contained in this Form 10-K and other written and oral statements made from time to time by us do not relate strictly to

historical or current facts. As such, they are considered forward-looking statements which provide current expectations or forecasts of future

events. Such statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as anticipate, believe, estimate, expect, intend, may, could,
plan, project, should, will, forecast and similar words or expressions. Our forward-looking statements generally relate to our growth strategit

financial results, product development and sales efforts. One must carefully consider forward-looking statements and understand that such

statements involve a variety of risks and uncertainties, known and unknown, and may be affected by inaccurate assumptions, including, among

others, those discussed below. Consequently, no forward-looking statement can be guaranteed and actual results may vary materially. We

undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement, but investors are advised to consult any further disclosures by us on this

subject in our filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, especially on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K (if any), in which we discuss in

more detail various important factors that could cause actual results to differ from expected or historic results. We note these factors as permitted

by the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. It is not possible to foresee or identify all such factors. As such, investors should not

consider any list of such factors to be an exhaustive statement of all risks, uncertainties or potentially inaccurate assumptions.

Although we expect that the merger with Nanometrics will result in benefits to August Nanometrics, August Nanometrics may not
realize those benefits because of integration and other challenges.

The failure of August Nanometrics to meet the challenges involved in integrating the global operations of Nanometrics and August Technology
successfully or otherwise to realize any of the anticipated benefits of the proposed merger, could seriously harm the results of operations of
August Nanometrics. Realizing the benefits of the proposed merger will depend in part on the successful integration of technology, operations
and personnel. The integration of the companies is a complex, time-consuming and expensive process that, without proper planning and
implementation, could significantly disrupt the respective businesses of Nanometrics, August Technology and/or August Nanometrics.
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The challenges involved in this integration include, but are not limited to, the following:
e communicating and executing a strategic vision to the market regarding August Nanometrics;

e consolidating operations, including rationalizing corporate information technology and administrative
infrastructures;

e combining diverse product and service offerings;

e coordinating sales and marketing efforts to effectively communicate the capabilities of August Nanometrics;

e overcoming any perceived adverse changes in business focus, including demonstrating to existing customers of
both Nanometrics and August Technology that the merger will not result in adverse changes in customer service

standards or business focus and helping customers conduct business easily with August Nanometrics;

e coordinating and harmonizing research and development activities to accelerate introduction of new products and
technologies with reduced cost;

e preserving customer, distribution, reseller, manufacturing, supplier, marketing and other important relationships
of both Nanometrics and August Technology and resolving any potential conflicts that may arise;

e minimizing the diversion of management attention from ongoing business concerns;
e retaining key employees and maintaining employee morale;
e addressing differences in the business cultures of Nanometrics and August Technology;

e addressing the effects of August Technology s employment contracts and the differences between Nanometrics and
August Technology s employee bonus plans on August Nanometrics employees;

e overcoming challenges involved with managing two large groups of employees in geographically disparate areas;

 coordinating and combining international operations, relationships and facilities, which may be subject to additional
constraints imposed by geographic distance, local laws and regulations;

e overcoming any potential challenges involved with August Nanometrics ability to comply with the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002, including its ability to make the certifications required by Section 404 thereof, in a timely manner;

e addressing any disruptions that may be caused by competitors of August Nanometrics attempting to acquire it;

e minimizing any potential interference to August Nanometrics sales efforts that may be caused by its competitors
disseminating false information about August Nanometrics;

« reducing the effects of potential litigation diverting the attention of management away from day to day integration
1ssues;

e addressing any challenges involved with August Nanometrics ability to earn profits with the amortization of fair
value of property, plants, equipment and intangible assets; and
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e overcoming the challenges involved with integrating August Technology s and Nanometrics diverse ERP systems
worldwide and minimizing any disruptions that may be caused by such integration.

August Nanometrics may not successfully integrate our operations with those of Nanometrics in a timely manner, or at all, and August

Nanometrics may not realize the anticipated benefits and synergies of the proposed merger to the extent, or in the timeframe, anticipated. The
anticipated benefits of the merger

30

38



Edgar Filing: AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORP - Form 10-K

with Nanometrics are based on projections and assumptions, including successful integration, not actual experience. The failure to integrate our
business with the business of Nanometrics or to realize any of the anticipated benefits of the proposed merger could seriously hinder August
Nanometrics plans for product development and business as well as business and market expansion following the merger.

In addition to the integration risks discussed above, August Nanometrics ability to realize these benefits and synergies could be adversely
affected by practical or legal constraints on its ability to combine operations. Even if the integration of Nanometrics and our operations, products
and personnel is successful, it may place a significant burden on management and internal resources. The diversion of management attention and
any difficulties encountered in the transition and integration process could harm August Nanometrics business, financial condition and operating
results.

Our business may be adversely affected and, under certain circumstances, we may be required to pay a termination fee if the merger
with Nanometrics is not completed.

If the merger with Nanometrics is not completed, our business and operations may be harmed to the extent that customers, suppliers and others
believe that we cannot effectively compete in the marketplace without the merger, or there is customer or employee uncertainty surrounding the
future direction of our product and service offerings and our strategy on a stand-alone basis. We may not be able to find an equivalent or more
attractive partner. Completion of the merger with Nanometrics is subject to several closing conditions, including obtaining requisite regulatory
and shareholder approvals, and we and Nanometrics may be unable to obtain such approvals on a timely basis or at all. In addition, we would not
derive the strategic benefits expected to result from the merger if the merger is not completed, which could adversely affect our business.
Further, we will be required to pay significant costs incurred in connection with the merger with Nanometrics, including legal, accounting and a
portion of the financial advisory fees, whether or not the merger is completed. Moreover, under specified circumstances, we may be required to
pay to Nanometrics a termination fee equal to $8.3 million plus any applicable costs, expenses and interest pursuant to the Merger Agreement.

We expect to incur significant costs associated with the merger with Nanometrics.

We estimate that we will incur significant direct transaction costs in connection with the merger with Nanometrics, which will be recognized and
expensed as incurred. In addition, we will incur legal fees and related costs in connection with defending August Technology and its directors
against two purported class action lawsuits that have been initiated against us and the members of our board of directors. We believe August
Nanometrics may incur charges to operations, which cannot be reasonably estimated at this time, in the quarter in which the merger with
Nanometrics is completed or the following quarters, to reflect costs associated with integrating the two companies. There can be no assurance
that August Nanometrics will not incur additional material charges in subsequent quarters to reflect additional costs associated with the merger
with Nanometrics and the integration of the two companies.

We must continue to retain and motivate executives and key employees and recruit new employees, which may be difficult in light of
uncertainty regarding the proposed merger with Nanometrics and offers from Rudolph and KLA, and failure to do so could seriously
harm our business.

In order to be successful, during the period before the merger with Nanometrics is completed, we must continue to retain and motivate
executives and other key employees and recruit new employees. Our employees may experience uncertainty about their future role with August
Nanometrics until or after strategies with regard to August Nanometrics are announced or executed. These potential distractions of the proposed
merger with Nanometrics and the unsolicited offers from Rudolph and KLA may adversely affect our ability to attract, motivate and retain
executives and key employees and keep them focused on the strategies and goals of August Nanometrics. Any failure by us to retain and
motivate executives and key employees during the period prior to the completion of this merger could seriously harm our business, as well as the
business of August Nanometrics.
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Uncertainty regarding our proposed merger with Nanometrics may cause customers, distributors, resellers and others to delay or defer
decisions which may harm our results of operations.

Because our proposed merger with Nanometrics is subject to several closing conditions and because we have received competing offers from
Rudolph and KLA, there may be uncertainty regarding the completion of the proposed merger with Nanometrics. This uncertainty may cause
customers, distributors, resellers and others to delay or defer decisions concerning purchases of our products, or elect to switch to other
suppliers, which could negatively affect our business and results of operations. Prospective customers could also be reluctant to purchase August
Nanometrics products due to uncertainty about the direction of August Nanometrics products and willingness to support and service existing
products. In addition, customers, distributors, resellers and others may also seek to change existing agreements with Nanometrics or

August Technology as a result of the proposed merger. These and other actions by customers, distributors, resellers and others could negatively
affect our business and results of operations.

We and our directors have been named as defendants in two purported class action lawsuits relating to our proposed merger with
Nanometrics and we are likely to incur significant legal costs in the defense of these lawsuits and, if we or our directors lose, we may be
precluded from completing the merger with Nanometrics and incur additional financial obligations.

We and each of our directors, Jeff O Dell, James Bernards, Roger Gower, Michael Wright and Linda Hall Whitman, have been named as
defendants in two separate lawsuits that purport to be class action claims on behalf of our shareholders. We received a summons and complaint
with respect to the first of these proceedings on February 4, 2005 and the second on February 14, 2005. Both lawsuits are brought in Minnesota
District Court and claim that the directors have breached their fiduciary duties to our shareholders in connection with their actions in agreeing to
the proposed merger with Nanometrics Incorporated. The plaintiffs in both actions seek various forms of injunctive relief including an order
enjoining us and our directors from consummating the merger with Nanometrics. We are likely to incur significant legal fees and expenses in
defending against these claims and to indemnify our directors for their legal fees and expenses in defense of these claims. In addition, there can
be no assurance that we or our directors will prevail in these lawsuits, and we or our directors may suffer an adverse result that prevents us from
completing our merger with Nanometrics or forces us to take other actions or pay damages that may adversely affect our business.

The microelectronic industries that we serve are highly cyclical, causing significant variability in our results of operations.

We primarily serve microelectronic industries and our business depends heavily upon capital expenditures by manufacturers in these industries.
Microelectronic industries are highly cyclical, with periods of capacity shortage and periods of excess capacity; this is historically due to sudden
changes in demand for microelectronic devices. In periods of excess capacity, there are often drastic changes in the timing and quantity of
capital equipment purchases and investments in new technology or capacity needs by our customers. The timing, length and volatility of these
periods are difficult to predict, resulting in pressure on our revenues, gross margin and net income. In addition to affecting our customers,
downturns also challenge our suppliers, vendors, other partners, as well as our management, sales, engineering, manufacturing, customer service
and other employees, who are vital to our success.

During downturns in microelectronic industries, customers typically reduce or delay purchases, and/or delay delivery or cancel orders. As a
result, it is imperative that we maintain an organization able to quickly and effectively align with market conditions, including bringing our cost
structures in line with current industry and overall market conditions. At the same time, we must also meet the following objectives:

e continue to serve our existing customers;
e provide new and improved solutions for new and existing customers;
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e operate effectively with our suppliers; and

e motivate and retain key employees.

If we are, for any reason, unable to achieve any one or more of the above objectives in an efficient, effective and timely manner, there could be a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, any delays or reductions in future purchases
of capital equipment or delays or cancellations of current orders by microelectronic device manufacturers, for any reason, would likely have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Our future rate of growth is highly dependent on the development and growth of the market for microelectronic device inspection
equipment.

We primarily target our products to address the needs of microelectronic device manufacturers for defect inspection and metrology. If for any
reason the market for microelectronic device inspection equipment fails to grow in the long term, contrary to our current expectations, we may
be unable to maintain current revenue levels in the short term and return to our historical growth in the long term. Growth in this market is
dependent to a large extent upon microelectronic manufacturers replacing manual inspection with automated inspection technology. There is no
assurance that manufacturers will undertake this replacement at the rate we expect.

Our sales and operating results can fluctuate significantly from period to period, which may adversely affect the market price of our
stock.

Our quarterly and annual operating results are affected by a wide variety of factors that could adversely affect sales or operating results, or lead
to significant variability in our operating results. In addition, because a significant portion of our revenue in any particular quarter has
historically come from the sale of a relatively small number of systems, the loss of any system sale could have a significant negative impact. A
variety of factors could cause this variability, including the following:

order cancellations or delays in orders by customers;

e the long sales cycle of our products;

e decreases in capital spending by our customers;

e new product introductions by our competitors and competitive pricing pressures;

e entrance into, or additional resources focused on, our markets by larger competitors;

e component shortages resulting in manufacturing delays; and

delays in the development, introduction and manufacture of our products.

We cannot predict the impact of these and other factors on our revenues and operating results in any future period. Results of operations in any
period, therefore, should not be considered indicative of the results to be expected for any future period. Because of this difficulty in predicting
future performance, our operating results may fall below expectations of securities analysts or investors in some future quarter or quarters. Our
failure to meet these expectations would likely adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

Global economic and political environments are important to economic conditions, and long term continued risk or concerns regarding
economic and political circumstances could decrease customer demand for our products.

Future political or related events similar or comparable to the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, significant military conflicts, or long term
reactions of governments and society to such events, may significantly affect the willingness or ability of our customers to visit our facilities or
trade shows, review our systems capabilities and/or purchase or take delivery of our products. Such events may also affect our
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abilities to visit our customers, perform application studies for our customers, and sell and deliver solutions and to service those solutions. Any
decline in the willingness or ability of our customers to travel and visit our facilities, or in our ability to travel and visit our customers, could
have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, such events could have an adverse
effect on the economy generally, and microelectronic industries in particular, causing our customers to reduce or delay capital equipment
purchases.

The market acceptance of our products is critical to our growth.

Microelectronic device manufacturing equipment and processes are subject to rapid technological changes. We continue to expend significant
resources developing new systems, new models to existing system series and improvements or enhancements on current models. Due to the
length of the product development cycles in our industries, we must make these significant time and resource expenditures well in advance of
any prospect of a revenue stream from such new products. If our customers do not continue to accept our current products and also accept and
integrate our new products into their operations, our revenue, cash flow, operating results or stock price would be negatively and materially
impacted.

Our growth expectations are dependent on successfully penetrating the front-end of the microelectronic device manufacturing process.

We continue to enhance our inspection and metrology product offering for the front-end of the microelectronic device manufacturing process, a
market segment that we have limited experience in serving. We are not a well-recognized supplier to this market, and will need to establish new
customer relationships and win the confidence of these customers to compete effectively in this market. The front-end of the microelectronic
device manufacturing market is dominated by large, well-established competitors with significantly greater resources and name recognition than
we have. In order to compete effectively with these larger competitors, we must develop process and applications expertise to identify the
inspection needs of this market and produce cost-effective, technologically advanced solutions addressing these needs. In addition, we must
create and execute programs to effectively market to and service these customers. Failure to successfully penetrate the front-end of the
microelectronic device manufacturing market would have a material adverse affect on our business prospects.

If we are unable to keep pace with rapid technological changes by developing and introducing successful new products and technologies
in a timely manner, our products may become obsolete and our business will suffer.

The microelectronic capital equipment manufacturing business is a highly competitive business and microelectronic device manufacturing
equipment and processes are subject to rapid technological changes. We believe that our future success will depend in part upon our ability to
continue to enhance our existing product line to meet customer needs and to develop and introduce new products in a timely manner. We cannot
assure you that our product enhancement efforts to improve and advance products, such as the AXi, NSX and 3Di Series, or our new product
development efforts such as the E20 for edge and B20 for backside inspection systems, will be successful or that we will be able to respond
effectively to technological change. In addition, we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to develop new products for the most
opportunistic new markets and applications.

We continue to make significant investments in research, development and engineering in new technology and/or businesses with new or
complementary products, services and/or technologies, and we are aware of the numerous risks associated therewith, including but not limited
to:

e diversion of management s attention from day-to-day operational matters and current products and customers;
e lack of synergy, or the inability to realize expected synergies;
e failure to commercialize the new technology or business;
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e failure to meet the expected performance of the new technology or business;
e lower-than-expected market opportunities or market acceptance of any new products; and

e unexpected reduction of sales of existing products by new products.
If we are unsuccessful at developing new products and technologies, our revenue, operating results or stock price would be negatively impacted.
Our products are complex and any product or process development issues could negatively impact our operations or financial results.

Our products are complex and often the applications to our customers businesses are unique. We believe that our future success will depend in
part upon our ability to meet our customers functionality and reliability requirements in a timely manner. We cannot be sure that our product
offerings, application assistance, enhancement efforts, or our new product development efforts will fulfill critical functionality and reliability
requirement. In addition, new product offerings that are highly complex in terms of software or hardware may require application or service
work such as bug fixing prior to acceptance, thereby delaying revenue recognition. If we are unsuccessful in these areas, our market share,
revenue, operating results or stock price would be negatively impacted.

Our market is highly competitive and we may lose business to larger and better-financed competitors.

The microelectronic defect inspection equipment industry is highly competitive in national and international markets. We have many domestic
and foreign competitors. Our current primary competitors in final manufacturing, testing and solutions are Camtek Ltd., Hitachi, Ltd., ICOS
Vision Systems, Robotic Vision Systems, Inc., and Toray Industries, Inc. In the front-end market, we compete with larger competitors, such as
KLA-Tencor Corporation and Rudolph Technologies, Inc., for certain automated macro inspection applications. Most of these competitors, as
well as other potential competitors, have substantially greater financial resources and more extensive engineering, manufacturing, marketing and
customer support capabilities than we have. Unless we are able to continue to invest significant financial resources in developing products and
enhancing customer support worldwide, we will likely not be able to compete effectively.

As we continue to diversify into the evolving and emerging microelectronic markets, including semiconductors, advanced packaging,
optoelectronics, MEMS, flat panel display, printheads, data storage, disk drives, medical devices and other similar devices, we will face
significantly increased competition.

Our operating results could be negatively impacted if we are unable to obtain the necessary resources to invest in our growth.

We intend to continue to make investments to support business growth and may require additional funds to respond to future business
challenges, such as the need to develop new products and enhance existing products, enhance our operating infrastructure, acquire
complementary businesses and technologies and satisfy working capital requirements. Accordingly, we may need to engage in equity or debt
financing to secure additional funds. Equity and debt financing, however, might not be available when needed or, if available, might not be
available on terms satisfactory to us. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing or financing on terms satisfactory to us, our ability to
continue to support our business growth and to respond to business challenges could be significantly limited.

Our success depends on attracting and retaining key personnel.

Our future success will depend in large part upon our ability to recruit and retain highly skilled technical, manufacturing, managerial, financial
and marketing personnel. The labor market in which we operate is highly competitive and as a result, we may not be able to retain and recruit
key personnel. Our failure to hire, retain, or adequately train key personnel could have a negative impact on our future financial and business
results.
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In addition, during the recent microelectronic industry downturn we have had reductions in our work force, reduced or eliminated salary
increases and for certain periods implemented pay cuts at the management level, and reduced discretionary spending. Any of the above measures
may have long term adverse effects on our ability to retain key personnel.

QOur business may be harmed if we fail to obtain and protect our intellectual property rights.

Our ability to obtain intellectual property rights and licenses and to preserve other intellectual property rights covering our products and our
products under development is an important component of our ability to compete in the microelectronic defect inspection industry. To protect
these rights, we have obtained 14 domestic patents and intend to continue to seek patents on our inventions when appropriate. As of
December 31, 2004, we have 53 pending patent applications in the United States and additional international applications and expect our
portfolio to increase in the future. The process of seeking intellectual property protection can be time-consuming and expensive. We cannot
ensure that:

e patents will be issued from currently pending or future applications;

e our existing patents or any new patents will be sufficient in scope or strength to provide meaningful protection or
any commercial advantage to us;

o foreign intellectual property laws will protect our intellectual property rights; or

e others will not independently develop similar products, duplicate our products or design around our technology.

If we do not successfully protect and then enforce our intellectual property rights, our competitive position could suffer, which could harm our
operating results.

We also rely on trade secrets, proprietary know-how and confidentiality provisions in agreements with employees, consultants, key customers
and vendors to protect our intellectual property. Other parties may not comply with the terms of their agreements with us and we may not be able
to adequately enforce our rights against these people.

Third parties may claim that we are infringing upon their intellectual property and we could suffer significant litigation costs, licensing
expenses or be prevented from selling our products.

Intellectual property rights are uncertain and involve complex legal and factual questions. We may be unknowingly infringing upon the
intellectual property rights of others and may be liable for that infringement, which could result in significant liability for us. If we do infringe
upon the intellectual property rights of others, we could be forced to either seek a license to those intellectual property rights or to alter our
products so that they no longer infringe. A license could be very expensive to obtain or may not be available at all. Similarly, changing our
products or processes to avoid infringing upon the rights of others may be costly or impractical.

We may become responsible for patent litigation costs. If we were to become involved in a dispute regarding intellectual property, whether ours
or that of another company, we may be required to participate in legal proceedings. These types of proceedings will be costly and
time-consuming, even if we eventually prevail. If we do not prevail, we might be forced to pay significant damages, obtain licenses, modify our
products or processes, stop making products or stop using processes.
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Our dependence on a few significant customers exposes us to operating risks.

Sales to our ten largest customers accounted for 66%, 73% and 66% of net revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. Our customers are
able to cancel orders, prior to shipment, with few or no penalties. If a significant customer reduces orders or delays shipments for any reason, our
revenues, operating results and financial condition will be negatively affected. In addition, our ability to increase our sales will depend in part
upon our ability to obtain orders from new customers for whom there is intense competition.

Our dependence on subcontractors and sole or limited source suppliers may prevent us from delivering an acceptable product on a
timely basis and could result in disruption of our operations.

We rely on subcontractors to manufacture many of the components and subassemblies for our products and we depend on single or limited
source suppliers for some of our components. Our reliance on subcontractors reduces the level of control we have over the manufacturing
process and exposes us to significant risks such as inadequate capacity, late delivery, substandard quality and high costs.

If a supplier were to become unable to provide parts in the volumes needed or at an acceptable price, we would have to identify and qualify
acceptable replacements from alternative sources of supply, or manufacture the components internally. Depending on the part, the process of
qualifying subcontractors and suppliers generally takes between 60 and 180 days. We generally do not have written supply agreements with our
single or limited source suppliers and purchase our custom components through blanket and individual purchase orders. If we were unable to
obtain these components in a timely fashion, we may not be able to meet demands for future shipments. We believe that we would be able to
find alternative solutions if supplies were unavailable from any of our sole source suppliers, including the supplier of our image processing
component. This may take time and the disruption would adversely affect our results of operations.

We assemble and test all of our products at a single facility, and any disruption in the operations of that facility could adversely impact
our business and operating results.

We assemble and test all of our automated inspection systems at one facility located in Bloomington, Minnesota. Any disruption in the operation
of that facility, whether due to technical or labor difficulties, destruction or damage from fire or earthquake, infrastructure failures such as power
or water shortage or any other reason, could interrupt our manufacturing operations, impair critical systems, disrupt communications with our
customers and suppliers and cause us to write off inventory and to lose sales.

Failure to adjust our orders for parts and subcomponents in an accurate and timely manner in response to changing market conditions
or customer acceptance of our products could adversely affect our financial position and earnings.

Our earnings could be negatively affected and our inventory levels could materially increase if we are unable to predict our inventory needs in
an accurate and timely manner and adjust our orders for parts and subcomponents should our needs increase or decrease materially due to
unexpected increases or decreases in demand for our products. Any material increase in our inventories could result in an adverse effect on our
financial position, while any material decrease in our ability to procure needed inventories could result in an inability to supply customer
demand for our products thus adversely affecting our revenues.

Our dependence upon international customers and suppliers may reduce our revenues or impede our ability to supply products.

International sales have accounted for a significant portion of our revenues in recent years. Sales outside of the United States accounted for 73%,
76% and 52% of our net revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. In addition, we rely on non-United States suppliers for several
components of the systems we sell. As a result, a major part of our revenues and the ability to manufacture our products are subject to the
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risks associated with international commerce. International sales and our relationships with suppliers and customers may be hurt by many
factors, including:

e changes in law or policy resulting in burdensome government controls, tariffs, restrictions, embargoes or export
license requirements;

political or economic instability in our target international markets;

instability caused by infectious disease or other like outbreaks, or the threat or concern thereof;

e longer payment cycles common in foreign markets;

difficulties in staffing and managing our international operations;

less favorable foreign intellectual property laws making it harder to protect our technology from appropriation by
competitors;

e difficulties in collecting our accounts receivable because of the geographic distance and unfavorable creditor
laws; and

e currency fluctuations may increase the relative price of our products in foreign markets and thereby adversely
affect sales.

We are also subject to risks associated with shipping products outside of the United States including shipping delays, varying business
conditions, differing business cultures and cultural diversities, among other risks. If our international sales or relationships with international
suppliers and customers are adversely affected by any of these factors, our financial condition could be adversely affected.

Our financial performance is highly dependent upon sales to customers in Asia.

Sales to customers in Asia accounted for 68%, 64% and 45% of our net revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. We expect our
dependence upon the Asian market to increase. In recent years, Asia has experienced serious economic problems including currency
devaluations, debt defaults, lack of liquidity and recessions. Our revenues depend upon the capital expenditures of microelectronic
manufacturers, many of whom have operations and customers in Asia. Serious economic problems in Asia would likely result in a significant
decrease in the sale of equipment to microelectronic industries. If we are unable to maintain our customer relationships in Asia, our future
financial condition, revenues and operating results will be negatively affected.

We will continue to rely upon distributors for a portion of our future sales, and a disruption in our relationships with these distributors
could have a negative impact on our international sales.

Sales through our independent distributors represented 4%, 14% and 8% of our net revenues in 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. One
distributor accounts for a significant portion of these sales. The activities of these distributors are not fully within our control. Although we
believe that we maintain good relations with our independent distributors, the relationships may nevertheless deteriorate in the future. A
reduction in the sales or service efforts or financial viability of any of our independent distributors, or a termination of our relationships with
them, could harm our sales, our financial results and our ability to support our customers.

We have acquired Semiconductor Technologies & Instruments, Inc., or STI, the assets of Counterpoint Solutions Inc., or CSI and
certain assets of DMSVision software division of Inspex, Inc., or DMSVision, and we may make other acquisitions; the acquisitions of
STI, CSI and DMSVision, and any future acquisitions may not be successful and may adversely affect our business.

We are looking for strategic opportunities to grow and diversify our product offerings through acquisitions. In this regard, we recently completed
the acquisitions of STI, CSI and DMSVision. Your

38

47



Edgar Filing: AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORP - Form 10-K

48



Edgar Filing: AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORP - Form 10-K

evaluation of our business and prospects may be difficult because of our limited operating history with STI, CSI and DMSVision. There can be
no assurance that we will be successful in integrating the operations of STI, CSI and DMSVision, identifying other appropriate candidates, or
integrating products and operations with any such candidates that we may acquire.

Any such acquisition could involve the dilutive issuance of equity securities and the incurrence of debt. In addition, the acquisitions of STI, CSI
and DMSVision and future acquisitions may involve numerous additional risks, including:

e the diversion of the attention of our management team from other business concerns;

e risks of entering into markets or producing products where we have limited or no experience, including
difficulties in integrating purchased technologies and products with our technologies and products;

e the potential loss of key customers of an acquired company;
e the potential loss of key personnel of an acquired company;
e exposure to unanticipated liabilities of an acquired company; and

e greater financial requirements for purchase price and added working capital.

Even when an acquired company has already developed and marketed products, there can be no assurance that the products will continue to be
successful, that product enhancements will be made in a timely fashion or that pre-acquisition due diligence will have identified all possible
issues that might arise with respect to the acquired company or its products.

If a microelectronic device manufacturer is loyal to another microelectronic equipment supplier, we may be unable to sell our products
to that potential customer and our sales and market share could suffer as a result.

We believe that once a microelectronic device manufacturer has selected one vendor s capital equipment for a production line application, the
manufacturer generally relies upon that capital equipment and, to the extent possible, subsequent generations of the same vendor s equipment, for
the life of the application. Once a vendor s equipment has been installed in a production line, a microelectronic device manufacturer must often
make substantial technical modifications and may experience production-line downtime in order to switch to another vendor s equipment.
Accordingly, unless our systems offer performance or cost advantages that outweigh a customer s expense of switching to our systems, it will be
difficult for us to achieve significant sales to that customer once it has selected another vendor s capital equipment for an application.

Change in accounting for stock-based compensation could adversely affect our results of operations.

We have historically compensated our employees, including many key personnel and new hires, through the issuance of options to acquire
capital stock. Effective as of the third quarter of fiscal year ended 2005, we will be required to expense unvested and newly issued employee
stock options. This change from current accounting regulations could have a significant impact on our results of operations and could affect the
manner in which we conduct business.
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If we cannot effectively manage our growth, our business may suffer.

We intend to continue to grow by increasing our sales efforts and completing strategic acquisitions. To effectively manage our growth, we must,
among other things:

e engage, train and manage a larger sales force and additional service personnel;
e expand the geographic coverage of our sales force;

e expand our information systems;

e identify and successfully integrate acquired businesses into our operations; and

e administer appropriate financial and administrative control procedures.

Our anticipated growth will likely place a significant strain on our management, financial, operational, technical, sales and administrative
resources. Any failure to effectively manage our growth may cause our business to suffer and our stock price to decline.

Increased competition could impair sales of our products or cause us to reduce our prices.

We expect our current competitors and other companies to continue to improve the design and performance of their products and to introduce
new products with competitive prices and performance characteristics. Competitive pressures may from time to time require us to selectively
reduce prices on our systems in an effort to protect our market share. Even if we reduce prices, our potential customers may choose to purchase
competing products developed by our competitors, many of whom have development, production, marketing and distribution resources
significantly greater than our own. Price reductions or lost sales as a result of these competitive pressures would reduce our total revenues and
adversely impact our financial results.

Our operations could be impaired as a result of disasters, business interruptions beyond our control or similar events, including global
or regional outbreaks of infectious diseases such as severe acute respiratory syndrome.

Disasters such as earthquakes, flooding, fire, electricity failure, or accidents that affect our operations, manufacturing facility, or the health of

our employees or customers could adversely affect our operating results and financial condition. Continued or future outbreaks of infectious
diseases such as severe acute respiratory syndrome (  SARS ), avian flu, or other similar or comparable outbreaks or fears or concerns of possible
outbreaks may significantly affect the willingness or ability of our customers to visit our facilities or trade shows, review our systems

capabilities and/or purchase or take delivery of our products, as well as our ability to visit our customers, to perform application studies for our
customers, to sell and deliver products, and to service those products. Any government mandated or suggested restrictions on travel, quarantines,
or declines in the willingness or ability of our customers to travel and visit our facilities or our ability to travel and visit our customers, could

have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk primarily from changes in interest rates and credit risk. We do not have material exposure to market risk from
fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates because all sales are made in U.S. dollars.

Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to interest rate risk primarily from investments in cash equivalents and short-term and long-term marketable debt securities (the
Investment Portfolio ). The entire Investment Portfolio is classified as available-for-sale and, accordingly, is recorded on the consolidated balance

sheet at fair value based on quoted market prices, with unrealized gains and losses reported in Shareholders Equity under the caption
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) . The entire Investment Portfolio is denominated in U.S. dollars. We do not use derivative

financial instruments in the Investment Portfolio. Due to the short duration of our investment portfolio, an immediate 10 percent change in

interest rates is not expected to have a material adverse effect on our near-term financial condition or results of operations.

Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject us to credit risk consist principally of securities in the Investment Portfolio and trade receivables.
We limit credit risk related to the Investment Portfolio by placing all investments with high credit quality issuers and limit the amount of
investment with any one issuer. As of December 31, 2004, 64% of the Investment Portfolio consisted of government securities and corporate
commercial paper and bonds with maturities of one year or less. We limit credit risk associated with trade receivables by performing ongoing
credit evaluations and believe that there is no additional risk beyond amounts provided for collection losses to be inherent in trade receivables.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
August Technology Corporation:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of August Technology Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004
and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2004. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have audited the financial
statement schedule. These consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of

August Technology Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for
each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in
our opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the effectiveness of
August Technology Corporation s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal
Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report
dated March 7, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion on management s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control over
financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 7, 2005
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
August Technology Corporation:

We have audited management s assessment, included in the accompanying Management s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
that August Technology Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria
established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). August Technology Corporation s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for
its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management s
assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A
company s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management s assessment that August Technology Corporation maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Also, in our opinion, August Technology Corporation
maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in
Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
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We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated
balance sheets of August Technology Corporation and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements
of operations, shareholders equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2004, and our report dated
March 7, 2005, expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Minneapolis, Minnesota
March 7, 2005
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AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except share amounts)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Short-term marketable debt securities
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Inventories at customers under purchase orders
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Long-term marketable debt securities
Purchased technology, net
Goodwill
Other assets
Total assets

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS

Current liabilities:

Accounts payable

Accrued compensation

Other accrued liabilities

Customer deposits and deferred revenues
Total current liabilities

Other non-current liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies (note 12)
Shareholders equity:

Common stock, no par value, 42,000,000 shares authorized 17,839,298 and 17,382,538 shares

issued and outstanding, respectively

Undesignated capital stock, no par value, 3,000,000 shares authorized, no shares issued or

outstanding

Deferred compensation related to stock options
Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)
Total shareholders equity

Total liabilities and shareholders equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

46

December 31,
2004

$ 5518
28,615
8,603
20,131
3,993
2,306
69,166
5,994
16,289
3,703
498

150

$ 95,800

$ 3,366
1,691
2,306
6,841
14,204
131
14,335

90,347

(8,776
(106
81,465

$ 95,800

2003

$ 10,027
43,528
4,094
11,651
2,293

1,631
73,224
3,141
10,295
1,179

498

610

$ 88,947

$ 5,409
1,146
1,414
2,436
10,405

65

10,470

88,086

(49

(9,578

18

78,477

$ 88,947
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AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

Net revenues

Cost of revenues

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative expenses
Research and development expenses
Operating income (loss)

Interest income

Other income

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes
Provision for income taxes

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss) per share:

Basic

Diluted

Weighted average number of shares:

Basic

Diluted

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

$ 68,443 $ 40,323 $ 25,058
31,925 18,290 11,068
36,518 22,033 13,990
22,798 14,359 13,013
13,561 10,430 9,847
159 (2,756 ) (8,870
847 407 624

73

1,079 (2,349 ) (8,246
277 687

$ 802 $ (2349 ) $ (8933
$ 0.05 $ (@©16 ) $ (0.69
$ 0.04 $ (@©16 ) $ (0.69
17,755 14,381 13,033
18,211 14,381 13,033

)

)
)

)
)
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AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS
(In thousands, except share amounts)

Common Stock
Shares

Issued And

Outstanding
Balances at December 31, 2001 12,812,164
Net loss
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Net unrealized gain on securities
Comprehensive loss
Issuances of common stock in conjunction
with:
Exercises of employee stock options 303,673
Employee stock purchase plan 36,467
Amortization of deferred compensation
related to stock options
Balances at December 31, 2002 13,152,304
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss:
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Net unrealized loss on securities
Comprehensive loss
Issuances of common stock in conjunction
with:
Follow on public offering, net of expenses 3,490,238
Acquisitions 415,385
Exercises of employee stock options 282,341
Employee stock purchase plan 42,270
Expense related to issuances of stock options
to nonemployees
Amortization of deferred compensation
related to stock options
Balances at December 31, 2003 17,382,538
Net income
Other comprehensive income (loss):
Foreign currency translation adjustments
Net unrealized loss on securities
Comprehensive income
Issuances of common stock in conjunction
with:
Exercises of employee stock options 414,171
Employee stock purchase plan 30,714
Restricted stock award 2,500
Exercises of warrants 9,375
Tax benefit from stock options exercised
Expense related to issuances of stock options
to nonemployees
Amortization of deferred compensation
related to stock options
Balances at December 31, 2004 17,839,298

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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EQUITY
Deferred Retained
Compensation Earnings
Related To (Accumulated
Amount Stock Options Deficit)
$ 41,020 $ (192) $ 1,704
(8,933 )
942
220
(24 ) 87
42,158 (105 ) (7,229 )
(2,349 )
42,049
2,160
1,498
219
7
5 ) 56
88,086 (49 ) (9,578 )
802
1,879
297
20
11
50
4
49
$ 90,347 $ $ (8,776)

Accumulated
Other Total

Comprehensive Shareholders

Income (Loss) Equity
$ O ) $ 42,523
(8,933 )

(€ ) 3 )
55 55
8,881 )

942
220

63
43 34,867
(2,349 )

8 ) ® )
a7 ) (17 )
(2374 )

42,049
2,160
1,498
219

7

51
18 78,477
802

21 21
(145 ) (145 )
678

1,879
297
20

11

50

49
$ (106) $ 81,465
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AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (loss)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Provision for doubtful accounts

Tax benefit from stock options exercised

Amortization of deferred compensation related to stock options

Issuance of restricted stock
Deferred income taxes

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of effect of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Inventories at customers under purchase orders
Prepaid expenses and other current assets

Accounts payable

Accrued compensation

Other accrued liabilities

Customer deposits and deferred revenues

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:

Proceeds from maturities of marketable debt securities
Purchases of marketable debt securities

Purchases of property and equipment

Cash paid in acquisitions

Investments in other assets

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:

Net proceeds from issuances of common stock

Net cash provided by financing activities

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental cash flow information:

Cash refunds (payments) of income taxes, net
Common stock issued for acquisitions

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003

$ 802 $ (2,349
3,007 1,951

135 195

50

49 51

20

19

4,519 ) 3,171
(8,452 ) 3,474
(1,700 ) 312

(672 ) (188
(2,041 ) 3,130
536 591

767 849
4,156 232
(7,843 ) 3,847
228,884 246,020
(220,110 ) (282,978
(5,021 ) (981
(2,343 ) (1,539
(252 )

1,158 (39,478
2,187 43,766
2,187 43,766
(11 ) @3

(4,509 ) 8,132
10,027 1,895

$ 5,518 $ 10,027
$ 99 ) $ 218
$ $ 2,160

2002

$ (8933

1,399
148

63
896

(2,465
920
20
1,427
632
(61
(113
(447
6,514

34,738
(27,231
(1,209

(571
5,727

1,162
1,162

@3

372

1,523

$ 1,895

$ 1,747
$

)

~— O —
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AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(In thousands, except per share data)

Note 1 Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Nature of Business. August Technology Corporation (collectively with its subsidiaries, the Company ) is a worldwide
leader in the research, design, development, manufacture, marketing, sales, distribution and service of automated
defect detection and review systems used in the manufacture of microelectronic devices including semiconductor
devices as well as emerging microelectronic device markets. The Company s systems automate the inspection process,
allowing manufacturers to inspect 100% of their wafers or die, while providing powerful information that
manufacturers can use to increase yield and productivity. The Company has sold these systems worldwide to major
microelectronic device manufacturers.

Principles of Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of August Technology
Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany balances and transactions are eliminated
in consolidation.

Use of Estimates. Management uses estimates and assumptions in preparing consolidated financial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Those estimates and assumptions affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements and the reported revenues and expenses during the reporting periods. Estimates are used for, but
not limited to: allocation of revenues in multiple element arrangements, allowance for doubtful accounts, inventory
valuation, useful lives of depreciable and intangible assets, warranty provisions and income taxes. Future events and
their effects cannot be perceived with certainty. As a result, the estimates used in preparation of the consolidated
financial statements will change as new events occur, as additional information is obtained and as the Company s
operating environment changes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid securities with original maturities of 90 days
or less when purchased.

Investments. Investments consist of marketable debt securities. The investments are stated at fair value based on quoted
market prices and may be used for liquidity or other corporate purposes. The Company s investments are classified as
available-for-sale securities. Unrealized gains and losses are reported in shareholders equity under the caption

Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) until maturity or sale of the investment, at which time it is included
in interest income. Short-term marketable debt securities mature in less than one year. Long-term marketable debt
securities have maturities of more than one year.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments. The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, marketable
debt securities and accounts payable approximates fair value as of December 31, 2004 and 2003.

Inventories. Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or market. Demonstration systems are stated at
manufacturing cost and reserves are recorded to state the demonstration systems at net realizable value. The Company
reviews inventory for obsolescence and excess quantities to determine that items deemed obsolete or excess are
appropriately reserved. In making the determination, the Company considers the quantity of inventory at the balance
sheet date assessed against each part s historical usage rates and future expected usage rates.
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AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Note 1 Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Inventories at Customers Under Purchase Orders. Inventories at customers under purchase orders represents systems that
have shipped under the terms of a customer purchase order, but have not yet qualified for revenue recognition as the
systems had not met customer specifications as of December 31, 2004 or 2003.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over the estimated useful lives of
the respective assets. The estimated useful lives range from two to seven years. Leasehold improvements are
amortized using the straight-line method over the lesser of the estimated useful lives or lease terms.

Purchased Technology and Goodwill. Purchased technology is presented at cost, net of accumulated amortization and is
amortized over the estimated useful lives. The estimated useful lives range from two to four years. In accordance with
the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standard ( SFAS ) No. 142, Goodwill and Intangible Assets,
goodwill is periodically tested for impairment rather than ratably amortized over a period of time. To test for potential
impairment, it was first determined that the Company consisted of a single reporting unit. Secondly, fair value of the
reporting unit was determined based upon the quoted market price of the Company s common stock at December 31,
2004. The fair value of the Company was then compared with the carrying value of net assets. Based on this
comparison, it was determined that no impairment existed. Accordingly, the Company did not perform step two of the
impairment analysis, in which the exact amount of impairment would have been determined. In step two of the
impairment analysis, the Company would have been required to compare the implied fair value of goodwill,
determined by allocating the reporting unit s fair value to all of its assets and liabilities, to its carrying amount.

Capitalized Software Development Costs. Software development costs incurred subsequent to the establishment of
technological feasibility, which is demonstrated by the completion of a working prototype, through general release of
the products are capitalized. Capitalized costs are amortized over the lesser of the estimated sales of the product or the
straight-line method over a period of three years. The Company reviews the carrying value of software development
costs regularly and a loss is recognized when the net realizable value falls below the unamortized cost. Net capitalized
software development costs at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $69 and $65, respectively. Amortization expense
for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $73, $95, and $88, respectively.

Patent costs. Patent costs are presented at cost, net of accumulated amortization and are amortized over their estimated
useful lives, generally seven years. Net patent costs at December 31, 2004 and 2003 were $81 and none, respectively.
Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003, and 2002 was $6, none, and none, respectively.

Impairment of Long Lived Assets. The Company reviews long-lived assets for impairment annually or more frequently if
the occurrence of events or changes in circumstances indicates that the carrying amount of the assets may not be fully
recoverable or the useful lives of these assets are no longer appropriate. Each impairment test is based on a
comparison of the carrying amount of an asset to future net undiscounted cash flows. If an impairment is indicated, the
asset is written down to its estimated fair value on a discounted cash flow basis.
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AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Note 1 Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Concentrations of Credit Risk. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to credit risk consist principally
of investments in cash equivalents and short-term and long-term marketable debt securities and trade receivables. The
Company limits credit risk by placing all investments with high credit quality issuers and limits the amount of
investment with any one issuer. The Company limits credit risk associated with trade receivables by performing
ongoing credit evaluations and maintains a reserve for potential collection losses based upon collectibility of all
accounts receivable. The Company believes that there is no additional risk, beyond amounts provided for collection
losses, to be inherent in trade receivables.

Income Taxes. Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Deferred income taxes are
recognized for the difference between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of existing assets and
liabilities. Deferred income taxes are recorded at the tax rates expected to be in effect when amounts are to be
included in future taxable income. The Company regularly assesses the recoverability of deferred tax assets and
records a valuation allowance to reduce the deferred tax assets to the amounts believed to be realizable, considering
whether it is more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will be realized. The ultimate
realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon carry back to prior periods, tax planning strategies, the scheduled
reversal of deferred tax liabilities and the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those
temporary differences become deductible. Based upon the Company s level of historical taxable losses in recent years
and the uncertainty of future taxable income, the Company concluded during the second quarter of 2002, and
continues to believe, that a full valuation allowance against the deferred tax assets is appropriate. The valuation
allowance at December 31, 2004 was $8,460.

Comprehensive Income (Loss). Comprehensive income (loss) represents the change in equity during a period from
transactions and other events and circumstances excluding transactions resulting from investments by shareholders
and distributions to shareholders.

Foreign Currency Translation. Assets and liabilities of the Company s Taiwan, Korean, and United Kingdom subsidiaries
are translated at current period end exchange rates, and equity accounts are translated at historical rates. Income and
expense accounts are translated at the average exchange rate in effect during the period. The resulting translation
adjustment is excluded from operations and accumulated as a separate component of shareholders equity.

Stock-based Compensation. The Company measures compensation expense for options issued under its stock-based
employee compensation plans using the intrinsic value method. As the exercise price of options granted under these
plans is equal to the fair market price of the underlying common stock on the grant date, no stock-based employee
compensation expense is recognized in the consolidated statements of operations. Compensation expense related to
the issuance of restricted stock awards is measured at the fair market value of the stock at the date of grant, and
expensed over the vesting period.

During December 2004, the Compensation Committee (the Committee ) of the Company s Board of Directors reviewed the Company s
stock-based compensation plan in light of evolving compensation practices and the anticipated issuance by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board ( FASB ) of its revision of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard (  SFAS ) No. 123 (Revised 2004) which upon adoption requires all share-based
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AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Note 1 Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

payments to employees, including grants of employee stock options, to be recognized in the Company s consolidated statement of operations
based on their fair values. After consideration of various alternatives, the Committee approved the accelerated and full vesting of all unvested
outstanding employee stock options with exercise prices above $11.00 per share issued prior to December 21, 2004. The effect of the vesting
acceleration was the vesting of 249 options and the recognition of additional stock-based employee compensation expense of $1,943 in the
fourth quarter of 2004 in the Company s pro forma disclosure below. This previously deferred stock-based employee compensation expense,
included in the pro forma disclosures, would otherwise in part have been recognized in the Company s consolidated statements of operations in
future periods after the adoption of SFAS 123R in the third quarter of 2005.

The following table illustrates the effect on net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share if the Company had applied the fair value
recognition provisions of FASB Statement No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation , to stock-based employee compensation.

Years ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Net income (loss), as reported $ 802 $ (2349 ) $ (8933 )
Stock compensation expense (5,043 ) (1,598 ) (2,491 )
Pro forma net loss $ @241 ) $ (B9%47) $ (11,424 )
Basic net income (loss) per share:

As reported $ 0.05 $ @©16 ) $ (069 )
Pro forma 0.24 ) (0.27 ) (0.88 )
Diluted net income (loss) per share:

As reported $ 0.04 $ @©16 ) $ (069 )
Pro forma (0.24 ) (0.27 ) (0.88 )

The Company determined the pro forma compensation expense under the provisions of SFAS No. 123 using the Black-Scholes pricing model
and the following assumptions:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Expected life 4.4 years 5.6 years 4.4 years
Risk free interest rate 3.0 % 3.0 Y% 3.4 Y%
Volatility 73.8 Y% 75.1 % 74.2 %

Dividend yield

The estimated per share weighted average fair value of all stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was
$6.95, $4.75 and $3.82, respectively.

Stock-based Payments to Nonemployees. The Company recognizes expense for stock options issued to nonemployees based
upon the fair value of the consideration received or the fair value of the equity instruments issued in accordance with

SFAS No. 123.
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AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Note 1 Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)
Revenue Recognition. The Company derives revenues from the sale of systems, spare parts, software and services.

System sales: The Company requires customers, excluding the Company s distributors, that have new inspection
applications to complete pre-shipment authorization testing of purchased systems at the Company s facility, prior to
shipment. During this testing, the customer verifies that the system meets their specifications and authorizes shipment.
For systems that have completed pre-shipment authorization testing, revenue is recognized as follows:

» Revenue from systems that have been demonstrated to meet customer specifications during pre-shipment
authorization testing is recognized when the product has shipped, title and risk of loss have transferred to the customer
and collection of the resulting receivable is probable.

» Revenue from systems that have not been demonstrated to meet customer specifications during pre-shipment
authorization testing is recognized when title and risk of loss have transferred to the customer, installation has
occurred and collection of the resulting receivable is probable.

When a customer with a new inspection application declines pre-shipment authorization testing of a purchased system, revenue is deferred until,
title and risk of loss have transferred to the customer, installation has occurred and collection of the resulting receivable is probable.

When the customer has already accepted previous systems, with the same specifications, for the same application, the Company does not require
pre-shipment authorization testing. Revenue is recognized when the product has shipped, title and risk of loss have transferred to the customer
and collection of the resulting receivable is probable.

System sales are accounted for as multiple-element arrangements. In transactions that include multiple products and/or services, the Company
allocates the revenue to each element based on their relative fair value (or in the absence of fair value, the residual method) and recognizes the
associated revenue when all revenue recognition criteria have been met for each element.

Spare parts revenue: Spare parts revenue is recognized when the parts have been shipped, title and risk of loss have
transferred to the customer and collection of the resulting receivable is probable.

Software revenue: Revenue from software license fees is recognized upon shipment if collection of the resulting
receivable is probable, the fee is fixed or determinable, and vendor-specific objective evidence exists to allocate a
portion of the total fee to any undelivered elements of the arrangement. Such undelivered elements in these
arrangements typically consist of follow-on support. If vendor-specific objective evidence does not exist for the
undelivered elements of the arrangement, all revenue is deferred and recognized ratably over the support period.

Service revenue: Service revenue is recognized after the services are performed and collection of the resulting
receivable is probable. Revenues from maintenance contracts are recognized ratably over the period of the contract.
Service revenues were less than 10% of revenues during the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.

The Company s distributors are not granted price protection or a right of return.
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AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Note 1 Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

The Company includes amounts billed to customers for shipping and handling as revenues, and the related expenses in cost of revenues.

Warranty. The Company provides warranty coverage for its systems for a period of one year, including parts and labor
necessary to repair the systems during the warranty period. A provision for the costs related to warranty expense is
recorded as a charge to cost of goods sold when revenue is recognized. The estimated warranty cost is based on our
historical experience rate of incurred expenses to corresponding system revenues.

Advertising Costs. Advertising costs are expensed as incurred.
Research and Development. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.

Net Income (Loss) Per Share. Basic net income (loss) per share excludes dilution and is computed by dividing net income
(loss) available to common shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding for the
period. Diluted net income per share reflects the potential dilution that could occur if securities or other contracts to
issue common stock were exercised or converted into common stock. When there is a net loss, other potentially
dilutive securities are not included in the calculation of net loss per share since their inclusion would be anti-dilutive.

Reclassifications. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the 2004 presentation. These
reclassifications had no impact on previously reported results of operations or shareholders equity.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2003, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation ( FIN ) No. 46R, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, which addresses how a
business enterprise should evaluate whether it has a controlling financial interest in an entity through means other than voting rights and
accordingly should consolidate the entity. FIN 46R replaces FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities, which
was issued in January 2003. The Company is required to apply FIN 46R to variable interests in variable interest entities ( VIE ) created after
December 31, 2003. For variable interests in VIEs created before January 1, 2004, the Interpretation will be applied beginning on January 1,
2005. For any VIEs that must be consolidated under FIN 46R that were created before January 1, 2004, the assets, liabilities and noncontrolling
interests of the VIE initially would be measured at their carrying amounts with any difference between the net amount added to the balance sheet
and any previously recognized interest being recognized as the cumulative effect of an accounting change. If determining the carrying amounts
is not practicable, fair value at the date FIN 46R first applies may be used to measure the assets, liabilities and noncontrolling interest of the VIE.
The Company believes it has no variable interest entities and, therefore, FIN 46R did not have an impact on the Company s consolidated
financial statements.

In May 2003, the FASB issued SFAS No. 150, Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity. The Statement establishes standards for the classification and measurement of certain financial instruments with characteristics of both
liabilities and equity. The Statement also includes required disclosures for financial instruments within its scope. For the Company, the
Statement was effective for instruments entered into or modified after May 31, 2003, and otherwise will be effective as of January 1, 2004,
except for mandatorily redeemable financial instruments. For certain
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AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Note 1 Nature of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

mandatorily redeemable financial instruments, the Statement will be effective for the Company on January 1, 2005. The effective date has been
deferred indefinitely for certain other types of mandatorily redeemable financial instruments. The Company currently does not have any
financial instruments that are within the scope of SFAS No. 150.

Note 2 Business Combinations

The Company completed one purchase acquisition in 2004 and two during 2003. The consolidated financial statements include the operating
results of each business from the date of acquisition. Pro forma results of operations have been presented for all acquisitions that are material on
either an individual or aggregate basis. For a period of up to twelve months from the acquisition date, the Company may change its original
purchase price allocation for pre-acquisition uncertainties.

DMSVision software division of Inspex, Inc.

On July 27, 2004, the Company purchased certain assets relating to the DMSVision software division of Inspex, Inc. ( DMSVision ). The
purchase was made pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement between the Company and Inspex, Inc. dated June 23, 2004. DMSVision develops
and markets product characterization software solutions that allow customers to collect and analyze process information from a broad range of
applications. The total consideration paid for DMSVision, including direct acquisition costs, was $2,326 of cash. In addition, the Company may
owe additional future consideration based on new orders for DMSVision software licenses received in the twelve months after the closing date.
Based upon the total estimated contingent consideration, the payment of the contingency will result in an increase in the allocation of purchase
price to purchased technology. As a result, amortization expense related to this asset will increase. Amounts paid under this arrangement are not
expected to have a material effect on the Company s consolidated financial condition or results of operations. The Company currently estimates
the total contingent consideration to be paid will be between $150 and $300.

The allocation of the purchase price to the net assets acquired and liabilities assumed based upon their estimated fair market values was as
follows:

Accounts receivable $ 122

Purchased technology 2,474

Accrued liabilities 21 )

Deferred revenues (249 )
$ 27326

Semiconductor Technologies & Instruments, Inc.

On April 15, 2003, the Company acquired all of the outstanding capital stock of Semiconductor Technologies & Instruments, Inc. ( STI ). STI
manufactures automated defect inspection and metrology tools that are integrated onto probers, providing microelectronics manufacturers with
an automated solution for inspecting probe marks, ink dots and active die regions. The total purchase price, including direct acquisition costs,
was $2,201 which consisted of $1,445 in cash and 215 shares of the Company s Common Stock.
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Note 2 Business Combinations (Continued)

The allocation of the purchase price to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed, based upon their estimated fair market values, was as follows:

Accounts receivable $ 347
Inventories 1,527
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 72
Property and equipment 344
Purchased technology 377
Accrued liabilities (76 )
Customer deposits and deferred revenues 390 )
$ 2,201

The following unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information presents the combined results of operations of the Company, DMSVision,
and STI as if the acquisitions occurred at the beginning of the periods presented, after giving effect to certain adjustments, including
amortization expense. The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial information does not necessarily reflect the results of operations that
would have occurred had the acquisitions been completed as of the dates indicated or of the results that may be obtained in the future.

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003

As reported Pro forma As reported Pro forma
Revenues $ 68,443 $ 68961 $ 40,323 $ 42,395
Net income (loss) 802 (199 ) (2,349 ) (4,455 )
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ 0.05 $ (.01 ) $ (©.16 ) $ (031 )
Diluted $ 0.04 $ (©.01 ) $ (©.16 ) $ (031 )

Counterpoint Solutions, Inc.

On July 3, 2003, the Company purchased substantially all of the assets of Counterpoint Solutions, Inc. ( CSI ). CSI develops wafer inspection,
review and failure analysis solutions. The total purchase price, including direct acquisition costs, was $1,515, which consisted of 200 shares of
the Company s Common Stock and $111 in cash. The allocation of the purchase price resulted in the Company recording $17 of net assets, $498
of goodwill and $1,000 of purchased technology. During the year ended December 31, 2002, CSI had unaudited revenues of $885 and unaudited
net income of $104.
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Note 3 Marketable Debt Securities

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of available-for-sale marketable debt securities were as follows:

December 31, 2004

Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Corporate bonds $ 12,611 $1 $ (55 ) $ 12,557
Municipal bonds 32,400 3 (56 ) 32,347
$ 45,011 $ 4 $ (111) $ 44904
December 31, 2003
Gross Gross
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value
Corporate bonds $ 12,484 $ 35 $ 2) $ 12,517
Municipal bonds 41,301 7 2 ) 41,306
$ 53,785 $ 42 $ @) $ 53,823

The maturities of available-for-sale marketable debt securities were as follows:

December 31,

2004 2003

Amortized Fair Amortized Fair

Cost Value Cost Value
Due within one year $ 28,662 $ 28,615 $ 43,524 $ 43,528
Due after one year through three years 13,349 13,289 10,261 10,295
Due after three years 3,000 3,000

$ 45,011 $ 44904 $ 53,785 $ 53,823

Net realized gains and losses were not material for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002.
Note 4 Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consisted of the following:

December 31,

2004 2003
Billed receivables $ 8,150 $ 3,837
Unbilled revenue 1,143 812

9,293 4,649
Allowance for doubtful accounts (690 ) (555 )
Accounts receivable, net $ 8,603 $ 4,094

Unbilled revenue represents revenue that has been earned for equipment shipped but not billed due to the payment terms of the customer order.
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Note 5 Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:

December 31,
2004 2003
Raw materials $ 8474 $ 4,645
Work in process 3,558 2,305
Demonstration equipment 4,152 1,603
Finished goods 3,947 3,098
Inventories $ 20,131 $ 11,651
Note 6 Purchased Technology
Purchased technology was as follows:
December 31,
2004 2003
Purchased technology $ 4,651 $ 1,370
Less: accumulated amortization (948 ) (191 )
Purchased technology, net $ 3,703 $ 1,179

Amortization expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $757, $191 and none, respectively. Assuming no change in
the gross carrying value of purchased technology, the estimated amortization expense for each of the next five years is $1,393, $1,178, $771,
$361, and none.

In December 2004, the Company purchased certain technology from Excelerate Technologies, Inc. ( Excelerate ). The total consideration paid
was $800, which included the forgiveness of a $500 convertible note receivable from Excelerate and $300 of cash, of which $150 was paid in
January 2005.

Note 7 Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

December 31,

2004 2003
Furniture and equipment $ 7,758 $ 4,076
Computer equipment 2,087 1,335
Computer software 1,937 1,540
Leasehold improvements 616 426

12,398 7,377
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (6,404 ) (4,236 )
Property and equipment, net $ 599 $ 3,141

Furniture and equipment includes $3,185 and $500 as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively, of finished goods that have been capitalized
due to the permanent transfer of such items to engineering for test and characterization, customer service for training and sales for customer
application studies. Depreciation expense for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $2,171, $1,666 and $1,311, respectively.
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Note 8 Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Current:
Federal $ 50 $ $ (239)
State 36 )
Foreign 244 30

258 (209 )
Deferred:
Federal 17 679
State 2 217
Foreign

19 896
Total provision for income taxes $ 277 $ $ 687

A reconciliation of the expected federal income taxes at the statutory rate of 34% to the actual provision for income taxes is as follows:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Expected federal income tax $ 367 $ (79 ) $ (3,037)
General business credits 61 ) (312 ) (283 )
Tax exempt income (15 ) (90 ) (58 )
Nondeductible expenses 109 59 100
Change in valuation allowance (140 ) 1,142 3,752
State income tax, net of federal tax effect (22 ) 144
Foreign tax © ) 30
Other 48 39
Actual provision for income taxes $ 277 $ $ 687
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Note 8 Income Taxes (Continued)

Deferred taxes consisted of the following:

December 31

2004
Current deferred tax assets:
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 248
Inventory reserve 586
Warranty accrual 339
Compensation accrual 143
Accrued lease obligation 33
Total current deferred tax assets 1,349
Long-term deferred tax assets:
Net operating loss carryovers 6,294
General business credits 1,361
Accrued lease obligation 40
Amortization of identified intangibles 138
Other 38
Total gross deferred tax assets 9,220
Current deferred tax liabilities:
Prepaid expenses (35
Long-term deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation (725
Amortization of goodwill (19
Total gross deferred tax liabilities (779
Valuation allowance (8,460
Net deferred tax liability $ (19

s

)
)

2003
$ 209
198

90

48

12
557

5,886
1,319
25

7,787

(51

(207
(258

(7,529

)
)
)

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 was $8,460 and $7,529, respectively. The net change in the

total valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 was an increase of $931 and $2,169, respectively.

At December 31, 2004, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $17,423 that will begin to expire in 2022
and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $6,379 that will begin to expire in 2016. The net operating losses are available to

offset future federal and state taxable income, if any. In addition, the Company has general business tax credits for federal and state tax purposes
of approximately $1,085 and $416, respectively, which are available to offset future federal and state regular income taxes, if any, and will begin

to expire in 2015.

Subsequently recognized tax benefits relating to the $8,460 valuation allowance for deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2004, would be

reported in the consolidated statements of operations as an income tax
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Note 8 Income Taxes (Continued)
benefit of $4,860 and in the consolidated statements of shareholders equity as a tax benefit from stock options exercised of $3,600.

As of December 31, 2004, approximately $89 of earnings attributable to international subsidiaries was considered to be permanently reinvested.
No provision has been made for taxes that might be payable if these earnings were remitted to the U.S.

In accordance with SFAS No. 142, the Company does not amortize goodwill for financial reporting purposes. Therefore, the deferred tax
liability related to the taxable temporary differences caused by different amortization periods for goodwill will not reverse unless the underlying
assets are sold or an impairment is recorded. As the Company is currently in a net operating loss position, they recorded valuation allowances to
offset their respective income tax benefits, from operations as well as the amount by which their deferred tax assets exceeded their deferred tax
liabilities, excluding the deferred tax liability related to goodwill.

On October 22, 2004, the American Jobs Creation Act (the AJCA ) was signed into law. The AJCA includes a deduction of 85 percent for certain
foreign earnings that are repatriated, as defined in the AJCA, at an effective tax cost of 5.25 percent on any such repatriated foreign earnings.

The Company may elect to apply this provision to qualifying earnings repatriations in fiscal 2005. The Company has begun an evaluation of the
effects of the repatriation provision. However, the Company does not expect to complete this evaluation until after Congress or the Treasury
Department provides additional clarifying language on key elements of the provision. The Company expects to complete their evaluation of the
effects of the repatriation provision within a reasonable period of time following the publication of the additional clarifying language, and the
Company does not believe this will have a material effect on their financial statements.

Note 9 Short-Term Debt

On April 30, 2004, the Company s revolving credit line agreement expired. There was no balance outstanding under the agreement at
December 31, 2003.

Note 10 Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

The accumulated balances for each classification of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) were as follows:

December 31,

2004 2003
Foreign currency translation adjustments $ 1 $ (20)
Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable debt securities (107 ) 38
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) $ (106) $ 18
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Note 11 Shareholders Equity
Net Income (Loss) Per Share

The components of basic and diluted net income (loss) per share were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Net income (loss) $ 802 $ 2349 ) $ (8,933 )
Weighted average common shares:
Basic 17,755 14,381 13,033
Effect of dilutive stock options and warrants 456
Diluted 18,211 14,381 13,033
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ 0.05 $ (@©16 ) $ (069 )
Diluted $ 0.04 $ @©16 ) $ (069 )

The total weighted average number of stock options and warrants excluded from the calculation of potentially dilutive securities either due to the
exercise price exceeding the average market price or the inclusion of such securities in a calculation of net loss per share would have been
anti-dilutive for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 were 486, 1,884 and 1,556, respectively.

Common Stock

On September 23, 2003, the Company sold 3,000 shares of its Common Stock at a price of $13.00 per share in a follow-on public offering (the

Offering ). In conjunction with the Offering, on October 21, 2003, the underwriters exercised their over-allotment option to acquire an additional
490 shares of Common Stock at the same price to the public and with the same underwriting discount as the Offering. The net proceeds from the
Offering, including the exercise of the underwriters over-allotment option, after deducting the underwriting discount and offering expenses, was
$42,049.

Deferred Compensation

In connection with the grant of stock options to employees in 1999, the Company recorded deferred compensation of $428, representing the
difference between the estimated deemed value of the Common Stock for accounting purposes and the exercise price of such options at the date
of grant. Such amount is presented as a reduction of shareholders equity and was amortized ratably over the vesting period of the options
granted, generally five years, and was fully amortized as of December 31, 2004. The charge to compensation expense related to this deferred
compensation for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $49, $51 and $63, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

During 2000, the Board of Directors and shareholders adopted the 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the 2000 Purchase Plan ). The 2000
Purchase Plan allows employees, subject to certain restrictions,
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Note 11 Shareholders Equity (Continued)

to purchase the Company s Common Stock through payroll deductions. Contributions are limited to 10% of an employee s compensation. The
purchase price is set at 85% of the lower of the closing market price of the Company s Common Stock at the commencement or termination of a
participation phase. Participation phases have a duration of six months and begin on January 1 and July 1 of each year. The Board of Directors
has reserved 375 shares of Common Stock for issuance under the 2000 Purchase Plan. As of December 31, 2004, 156 shares of Common Stock
had been purchased and 219 shares remain reserved for future issuance under the 2000 Purchase Plan.

Stock-based Compensation

The Board of Directors and shareholders have adopted the 1997 stock option plan (the 1997 Plan ), which originally provided for 1,125 shares
available for issuance primarily to officers, directors and key employees. On April 28, 2004, April 30, 2003, April 19, 2001, and April 14, 2000
the shareholders authorized increases in the number of shares available for issuance to 4,250, 3,050, 2,650, and 2,250 shares, respectively. The
1997 Plan permits the granting of incentive stock options meeting the requirements of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as
amended, and also nonqualified stock options which do not meet the requirements of Section 422. In addition, the April 28, 2004 amendment
modified the Plan to allow for the granting of restricted stock awards, stock appreciation rights and performance share awards, in addition to
stock options, to certain eligible employees, directors and consultants of the Company and its subsidiaries. The exercise price of incentive stock
options may not be less than the fair market value of the stock at the date of grant. The exercise price of nonqualified stock options may not be
less than 85% of the fair market value of the stock at the date of grant. The stock options vest over periods that range from immediate to five
years and expire in either seven or ten years from the date of grant. As of December 31, 2004 all of the stock incentives granted under the 1997
Plan, except for an award of 3 shares of restricted stock, represented grants of stock options. The restricted stock award was issued at the fair
market value of the stock at the date of grant, resulting in $20 of deferred compensation expense. The expense was amortized ratably over the
vesting period, and was fully amortized at December 31, 2004. As of December 31, 2004, there were 981 shares available for future grant under
the 1997 Plan.
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Note 11 Shareholders Equity (Continued)

Information with respect to option activity is as follows:

Weighted Average

Number of Exercise Price

Shares Per Share
Outstanding at December 31, 2001 1,616 $ 7.06
Granted 700 6.59
Exercised 304 ) 3.10
Forfeited 217 ) 9.11
Outstanding at December 31, 2002 1,795 7.30
Granted 448 7.30
Exercised 282 ) 5.30
Forfeited (161 ) 9.35
Outstanding at December 31, 2003 1,800 7.43
Granted 721 12.23
Exercised 414 ) 4.54
Forfeited (143 ) 10.94
Outstanding at December 31, 2004 1,964 $ 954

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at December 31, 2004:

Weighted
Average Exercisable
Remaining Weighted
Range of Outstanding Contractual Average Exercisable
Exercise Prices Options Life (years) Exercise Price Options
$1.20- 3.99 213 3.1 $ 2.86 153
4.00- 4.36 204 52 4.32 91
437- 7.10 225 4.8 5.56 113
711- 9.19 201 9.0 7.98 26
9.20 - 10.05 192 4.4 9.75 129
10.06 - 10.38 244 9.8 10.37 53
10.39 - 12.00 195 3.8 11.40 149
12.01 - 13.75 188 3.5 13.07 188
13.76 - 17.42 138 6.2 15.72 138
17.43 - 22.65 164 7.6 19.15 164
$1.20-22.65 1,964 5.8 $ 9.54 1,204
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Weighted
Average
Exercise Price

$ 2.46
4.31
5.25
8.02

9.76

10.37
11.62
13.07
15.72
19.15

$ 10.69
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Note 12 Commitments and Contingencies
Leases

The Company leases its facilities and certain equipment under noncancelable operating leases. Future minimum lease payments as of
December 31, 2004, excluding operating costs, under these leases are as follows:

For the Years Ending December 31, Amount
2005 $ 794
2006 670

2007 621

2008 621

2009 628
Therafter 1,503
Total minimum lease payments $ 4,837

Rent expense for all operating leases for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $811, $757 and $646, respectively.
Purchase commitments

The Company maintains certain open purchase commitments for the purchase of goods and services. The minimum purchase commitments for
the year ended December 31, 2005 is estimated to be approximately $4,424. Although the Company is primarily liable for payments on the
purchase commitments, based on historic operating performance and forecasted future cash flows, management believes the exposure to losses,
if any, under these arrangements is not material.

Guarantees

Pursuant to FIN No. 45, Guarantor s Requirements for Guarantees, including Indirect Indebtedness of Others, the Company is required to
disclose the changes in the provision for product warranty. The Company provides warranty coverage for its systems for a period of one year,
including parts and labor necessary to repair the systems during the warranty period. The estimated warranty cost is based on our historical
experience rate of incurred expenses to corresponding system revenues.

66

80



Edgar Filing: AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORP - Form 10-K

AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Note 12 Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

Information with respect to changes in the warranty provision, as required by FIN 45 and included in the caption Other Accrued Liabilities on
the Consolidated Balance Sheet, is as follows:

Changes in
Warranty Liability
Accrual at December 31, 2001 $ 149
Warranties issued 101
Costs incurred (139 )
Accrual at December 31, 2002 111
Warranties issued 264
Assumption of liability in connection with acquisition 53
Costs incurred (189 )
Accrual at December 31, 2003 239
Warranties issued 1,570
Assumption of liability in connection with acquisition 21
Costs incurred (888 )
Accrual at December 31, 2004 $ 942

Distributor Termination

In June 2002, the Company paid $428 to Metron Technology B.V. ( Metron ) related to the modification of its distributor agreement with Metron.
The entire amount was recognized within selling, general and administrative expense in the period incurred. The modification resulted in

focusing Metron s activities entirely on South Korea. The Company subsequently terminated the entire agreement with Metron without the
payment of any additional amounts.

Legal Proceedings

From time to time, in the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to claims, asserted or unasserted, or named as a party to lawsuits
or investigations. Except as described below and in Note 16, the Company is not aware of any asserted or unasserted legal proceedings or claims
that management believes would have a material adverse effect on the Company s financial condition or results of operations.

The Company fully settled the commercial litigation between the Company and Rudolph Technologies, Inc. ( Rudolph ). On September 23, 2003,
the Company and its subsidiary, STI filed a complaint against Rudolph and its subsidiary ISOA, Inc. ( ISOA ). In the complaint, the Company
and STI sought a declaratory judgment that the Company and STI were not using ISOA technology in their products. STI also asserted a claim

for breach of contract to recover amounts STI paid to ISOA in connection with a joint development agreement between STI and ISOA. Rudolph
and ISOA filed an answer and counterclaim, denying the allegations set forth in the complaint and claiming that ISOA was entitled to damages

for STI s alleged breach of the joint development agreement. ISOA also sought a declaratory judgment that STI and/or the Company were
wrongfully using ISOA s technology without compensating ISOA and that ISOA was entitled to royalty payments for use of its technology.
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Note 12 Commitments and Contingencies (Continued)

The Company acquired STI from ASTI Holdings, Ltd. ( ASTI ) in April 2003. In connection with the acquisition, ASTI agreed to indemnify the
Company for claims relating to STI s dispute with Rudolph and ISOA, up to a maximum value of $670. To secure ASTI s performance of ASTI s
indemnification obligations, ASTI and the Company created an escrow.

On July 22, 2004, the Company, STI, Rudolph, and ISOA agreed to settle all claims between the parties. On August 6, 2004 the Company
entered into a final settlement agreement with Rudolph. Under the terms of the confidential settlement, ASTI made a one-time payment out of
the escrow to Rudolph in the amount of $503. The Company, STI, Rudolph and ISOA agreed to release any and all claims against each other
relating to the joint development agreement and to dismiss all claims asserted in the litigation with prejudice.

Note 13 Employee Retirement Plan

The Company maintains an employee benefit plan (the Plan ) pursuant to Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Plan is available to
all employees who have reached the age of 18 and provides employees with tax deferred salary deductions and alternative investment options.
Employees may contribute up to 15% of their eligible compensation, subject to certain limitations. The Company matches 50% of the deferrals
up to 6% of the employee s compensation. The Company made contributions to the Plan for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
of $295, $251 and $259, respectively.

68

82



Edgar Filing: AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORP - Form 10-K

AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Note 14 Significant Customer, Product Line and Geographic Information

The percentage of net revenues derived from major customers and accounts receivable related to these customers were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Net revenues:
Customer A 15 % 12 % *
Customer B 10 % & e
Customer C 10 % * *
Customer D o 11 % &
Customer E * 11 % 15 %
Customer F o 12 % &
Customer G * * 10 %
Total 35 % 46 % 25 %
December 31,
2004 2003
Accounts receivable:
Customer A 2 % 1 %
Customer B 19 % &
Customer C 24 % *
Customer D i 7 %
Customer E * 11 %
Customer F i 5 %
Customer G * *
Total 45 % 24 %
* Customer represented less than 10% of net revenues during the period.
The percentage of net revenues by major product line was as follows:
Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
Net revenues:
NSX Series 54 % 50 % 45 %
All Surface Systems 20 % 12 % 0 %
3Di Series 6 % 15 % 37 %
Other 20 % 23 % 18 %

100 % 100 % 100 %
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Note 14 Significant Customer, Product Line and Geographic Information (Continued)

All of the Company s tangible long-lived assets are located in the United States, except for an insignificant amount of property and equipment in

Taiwan and South Korea. The Company derives revenues from shipments to customers outside of the United States. The percentage of net

revenues by geographic region was as follows:

Net revenues:
United States
Taiwan

South Korea
Japan

Rest of Asia
Europe and other

Note 15 Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited)

Net revenues

Gross profit

Operating income (loss)

Net income (loss)

Net income (loss) per share:

Basic

Diluted

Weighted average common shares:
Basic

Diluted

70

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002
27 % 24 % 48
35 % 38 % 37
17 % 14 %
4 % 7 %0 4
12 % 5 %0 4
5 % 12 % 7
100 % 100 % 100
Three Months Ended
Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30,
2004 2004 2004
$ 16,400 $ 19,855 $ 15,516
9,342 10,796 7,329
1,245 2,084 (2,695 )
1,446 2,173 (2,445 )
$ 0.08 $ 0.12 $ (©.14 )
$ 0.08 $ 0.12 $ (©.14 )
17,622 17,778 17,803
18,486 18,349 17,803

%
%
%
%

Dec. 31,
2004

$ 16,672

9,051
(475
(372

$ (0.02
$ (0.02

17,815
17,815
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Note 15 Quarterly Financial Data (unaudited) (Continued)

Three Months Ended
Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31,
2003 2003 2003 2003
Net revenues $ 6,563 $ 7,957 $ 11,685 $ 14,318
Gross profit 3,608 4,209 6,585 7,631
Operating income (loss) 2,367 ) (1,438 ) 182 867
Net income (loss) (2,269 ) (1,360 ) 253 1,027
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ @©17 ) $ (@10 ) $ 0.02 $ 0.06
Diluted $ @©17 ) $ (@10 ) $ 0.02 $ 0.06
Weighted average common shares:
Basic 13,158 13,352 13,844 17,171
Diluted 13,158 13,352 14,578 18,291

Note 16 Subsequent Events (unaudited)

On January 21, 2005, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization (the Merger Agreement ) with

Nanometrics, Incorporated ( Nanometrics ), Major League Merger Corporation ( Merger Sub 1 ) and Minor League Merger Corporation ( Merger
Sub 2 ). Pursuant to the Merger Agreement (a) Nanometrics will effect a reincorporation under Delaware law by merging with and into Merger

Sub 2, a Delaware corporation, with the surviving entity to be renamed August Nanometrics Inc. ( August Nanometrics ) and (b) Merger Sub 1

will be merged with and into the Company, with the surviving entity to be a wholly-owned subsidiary of August Nanometrics. Each share of the
Company s common stock will be converted into the right to receive 0.6401 of a share of August Nanometrics common stock.

August Nanometrics will make a cash payment to the Company s shareholders for any fractional shares of August Nanometrics common stock

they would otherwise be entitled to receive instead of issuing fractional shares.

On January 27, 2005, the Company received a letter from Paul F. McLaughlin, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Rudolph, stating that
Rudolph is prepared to enter into a merger with the Company based on a share exchange ratio of 0.6239 share of Rudolph stock for each share of
the Company s common stock (equivalent to $10.50 per share of the Company s common stock based on the closing price of Rudolph stock on
January 27, 2005). The letter stated that each of the Company s shareholders may elect to receive all cash, stock or a combination of cash and
stock, subject to proration based on total cash consideration of $40 million.

Also on January 27, 2005, Rudolph issued a press release with proposed terms slightly different from those described in the letter. The press
release stated that Rudolph is prepared to enter into a merger with the Company whereby each shareholder of the Company will receive the
value of $2.16 per share in cash and 0.4955 per share in Rudolph common stock (equivalent to $10.50 per share of the Company s Common
Stock, based on the closing price of Rudolph stock on January 27, 2005). The press release stated
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AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(In thousands, except per share data)

Note 16 Subsequent Events (unaudited)

that each of the Company s shareholders would have the option to elect to receive all cash, stock or a combination of cash and stock, subject to
proration based on total cash consideration of $40 million.

The Company s Board of Directors has agreed, based on the advice of its financial advisors and legal counsel, to further examine the Rudolph
offer provided that Rudolph first executes a confidentiality agreement in the form required by the Merger Agreement with Nanometrics. As of
the date of this filing, the Company and Rudolph have not reached agreement on the form of confidentiality agreement and no discussions
regarding Rudolph s offer have taken place.

On February 9, 2005, the Company received a letter from Kenneth Schroeder, President and Chief Executive Officer of KLA-Tencor
Corporation ( KLA ), regarding KLA s interest in pursuing a merger with the Company. The letter stated that KLA proposed to acquire the
Company in a transaction in which the Company s shareholders would receive $11.50 per share. KLA also stated that it would be willing to
consider using stock as consideration.

The Company s Board of Directors has agreed, based on the advice of its financial advisors and legal counsel, to further examine the KLA offer
provided that KLLA first executes a confidentiality agreement in the form required by the Merger Agreement with Nanometrics. As of the date of
this filing, the Company and KLLA have not reached agreement on the form of confidentiality agreement and no discussions regarding KLA s
offer have taken place.

The Company and each of its directors, Jeff O Dell, James Bernards, Roger Gower, Michael Wright and Linda Hall Whitman, have been named
as defendants in two separate lawsuits that purport to be class actions claims on behalf of shareholders of the Company. The Company received
a summons and complaint with respect to the first of these proceedings on February 4, 2005 and the second on February 14, 2005. Both lawsuits
are brought in Minnesota State Court and claim that the directors have breached their fiduciary duties to the Company s shareholders in
connection with their actions in agreeing to the proposed merger with Nanometrics Incorporated. The plaintiffs in both actions seek various
forms of injunctive relief including an order enjoining the Company and the directors from consummating the merger with Nanometrics. The
Company and its directors believe the lawsuits are without merit and plan to vigorously defend against the claims.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
None
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The effectiveness of our or any system of disclosure controls and procedures is subject to certain limitations, including the exercise of judgment
in designing, implementing and evaluating the controls and procedures, the assumptions used in identifying the likelihood of future events, and
the inability to eliminate misconduct completely. As a result, there can be no assurance that our disclosure controls and procedures will detect all
errors or fraud. By their nature, our, or any system of disclosure controls and procedures can provide only reasonable assurance regarding
management s control objectives.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we
evaluated the design and operation of our disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, or the Exchange Act ) as of December 31, 2004. On the basis of this review, our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are designed, and are effective, to give
reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in reports that we file under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and to ensure that information required to be
disclosed in the reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, in a manner that allows timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Also, there were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting that occurred in the fourth quarter of 2004 that materially affected, or
are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Management s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in
Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our principal executive officer and
principal financial officer, we conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the
framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.
Based on our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control Integrated Framework, our management concluded that our internal control
over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2004.

Our management s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 has been audited by
KPMG LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report which is included herein.

Item 9B. Other Information

On December 30, 2004, the Board of Directors approved the Company s 2005 Annual Incentive Plan ( AIP ). The AIP is established each year to
provide a bonus to participants based on the Company s achievement of annual corporate performance goals. Participants in the plan are
recommended by management and approved by the Board of Directors and generally include the Company s Chief Executive Officer, President
and Chief Operating Officer, Chief Financial Officer and other executive officers with management authority over the corporate functions
responsible for the achievement of the goals. The bonus earned by each participant will be equal to a fixed percentage of the participant s salary
multiplied by the percentage of achievement of the annual corporate performance goals, as determined by the Board of Directors. The goals are
based upon the following four metrics: (i) revenue growth as
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compared to industry growth, weighted 30%; (ii) profitability improvement over 2004; weighted 20%; (iii) orders derived from the front end of
the microelectronic manufacturing process, weighted 35%; and (iv) free cash flow, weighted 15%. The bonus earned is paid upon public release
of the Company s annual results.

PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The Company will furnish to the Securities and Exchange Commission a definitive Proxy Statement (the Proxy Statement ) not later than 120

days after the close of the year ended December 31, 2004. Other than Executive Officers of the Registrant , which is set forth at the end of Part I

of this Form 10-K, the information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections labeled Election of Directors ,
Corporate Governance , and Compliance With Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act , which appear in the Proxy Statement.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the sections labeled Executive Compensation and Election of
Directors in the Proxy Statement.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Shareholder Matters

The information regarding security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated herein by reference to the section
labeled Principal Shareholders and Management Shareholdings in the Proxy Statement.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table provides information about shares of the Company s Common Stock that may be issued under the Company s equity
compensation plans, as of December 31, 2004:

(c)

(a) (b) Number of securities remaining available
Number of securities to be Weighted average for future issuance under equity
issued upon exercise of exercise price of compensation plans (excluding securities
Plan Category outstanding options outstanding options reflected in column (a))
Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders() 1,964,313 $ 954 1,200,093 2)
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders
Total 1,964,313 $ 954 1,200,093

o Includes options under the August Technology 1997 Stock Incentive Plan.

@) Includes 218,884 shares available for issuance under the August Technology 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
None

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services
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The information required by this item is incorporated herein by reference to the section labeled Ratification of Independent Registered Public
Accounting Firm in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

(a) Financial Statements. The following financial statements are included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K:

Reports of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(b) Financial Statement Schedules. The following schedule is included following the signature page of this
Form 10-K:

Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts.

All other schedules are omitted since they are not applicable, not required or the information is presented in the consolidated financial statements
or related notes.

(c) Exhibits.
The exhibits included in this report are set forth on the Exhibit Index to Form 10-K following the signature page of this Form 10-K.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION
By: /s/ JEFF L. O dELL
Jeff L. O Dell
Chief Executive Officer
Date: March 11, 2005 (Principal Executive Officer)

In accordance with the Exchange Act, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities
and on the dates indicated below.

Each person whose signature appears below constitutes and appoints Jeff L. O Dell and Stanley D. Piekos as the undersigned s true and lawful
attorneys-in fact and agents, each acting alone, with full power of substitution and resubstitution, for the undersigned and in the undersigned s
name, place and stead, in any and all amendments to this Annual Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, with all exhibits thereto, and other
documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission, granted unto said attorney s-in-fact and agents, each acting
alone, full power and authority to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done in and about the premises, as
fully to all intents and purposes as the undersigned might or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirming all said attorneys-in-fact and
agents, each acting alone, or his substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue thereof.

Signature Title Date
/s/ JEFF L. O DELL Chairman of the Board and March 11, 2005
Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ STANLEY D. PIEKOS Chief Financial Officer March 11, 2005
(Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ SCOTT A. GABBARD Chief Accounting Officer and March 11, 2005

Vice President, Finance
(Principal Accounting Officer)

/s JAMES A. BERNARDS Director March 11, 2005
/S/ ROGER E. GOWER Director March 11, 2005
/sl MICHAEL W. WRIGHT Director March 11, 2005
/s/ LINDA HALL WHITMAN Director March 11, 2005
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Schedule II Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE THREE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 AND 2002
(In thousands)

Balance at Charged to Charged to Balance at
Beginning of Costs and Other End of
Description Date Period Expenses Accounts  Deductions(a) Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts Year ended December 31, 2002 $ 402 $ 148 $ $ $ 550
Year ended December 31, 2003 550 195 (190 ) 555
Year ended December 31, 2004 555 135 690
Inventory Valuation allowance Year ended December 31, 2002 $ 193 $ 229 $ $ (141) $ 281
Year ended December 31, 2003 281 494 (250 ) 525
Year ended December 31, 2004 525 1,838 (734 ) 1,629

(a) Represents write-offs of uncollectible accounts receivable and inventory.
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SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

For the fiscal year ended:

Washington, D.C. 20549
EXHIBIT INDEX TO FORM 10-K

Commission File No.: 000 - 30637

December 31, 2004

AUGUST TECHNOLOGY CORPORATION

Exhibit Number
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2.1

22

23

3.1

32

4.1

4.2

10.1

10.2%

10.3%
10.4

Description

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization by and among Nanometrics Incorporated, Major League
Corporation, Minor League Merger Corporation and August Technology Corporation dated January 21,
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company s Current Report on Form 8-K dated
January 21, 2005)

Form of Voting Agreement by and between August Technology Corporation and certain shareholders of
Nanometrics Incorporated (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 to the Company s Current Report on
Form 8-K dated January 21, 2005)

Form of Voting Agreement by and between Nanometrics Incorporated and certain shareholders of

August Technology Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.3 to the Company s Current Report
on Form 8-K dated January 21, 2005)

Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1
to the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Reg. No. 333-32692)

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Company s
Registration Statement on Form S-1, Reg. No. 333-32692)

Instruments defining the rights of security holders, including indentures (reference is made to Exhibits 3.1
and 3.2)

Form of Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Company s Registration Statement
on Form S-1, Reg. No. 333-32692)

1997 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended and restated through February 4, 2004 (incorporated by reference to
the Appendix to the Company s Proxy Statement for its 2004 Annual Shareholders Meeting filed on

March 11, 2004)**

Forms of Incentive Stock Option Agreement and Non-Statutory Stock Option Agreement currently used
under the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan**

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement currently used under the 1997 Stock Incentive Plan**

August Technology 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to the
Company s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Reg. No. 333-32692)*%*
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10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13*

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17
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Amendment to August Technology 2000 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, dated February 8, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2002)**

1998 Board of Directors Compensation Plan, adopted by the Board of Directors, amended and restated as of
July 29, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2003)**

International Distributor Agreement between the Company and Marubeni Solutions Corporation dated

June 14, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company s Registration Statement on
Form S-1, Reg. No. 333-32692)

Office Warehouse Lease Agreement between the Company and West 78th Street, Bloomington Associates,
LLC, dated October 18, 1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Company s Registration
Statement on Form S-1, Reg. No. 333-32692)

Amendments to the Lease Agreement between the Company and West 78™ Street, Bloomington Associates,
LLC, dated March 31, 2000 and July 25, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company s
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000)

Amendment to the Lease Agreement between the Company and West 78" Street, Bloomington Associates,
LLC, dated June 18, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 to the Company s Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2001)

Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement between the Company and West 78th Street, Bloomington
Associates, LLC dated February 28, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 to the Company s
Registration Statement on Form S-3, Reg. No. 333-108106)

Fifth Amendment to Lease Agreement between the Company and 4900 West 78th Street LLC, dated

May 27, 2004 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
June 30, 2004)

Sixth Amendment to Lease Agreement between the Company and 4900 West 78th Street LLC, dated
October 27, 2004

Lease Agreement between the Company and 190/STI, L.P. dated March 3, 2003 (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.39 to the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-3, Reg. No. 333-108106)

OEM Agreement between the Company and Santok Software Solutions Inc., dated January 26, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 to the Company s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Reg.
No. 333-32692)

Executive Employment Contract between the Company and D. Mayson Brooks, dated March 5, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 to the Company s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001)**

Executive Employment Contract between the Company and Jeff L. O Dell, dated March 6, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 to the Company s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001)**
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10.18 Executive Employment Contract between the Company and David Klenk, dated March 6, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 to the Company s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2001)**
10.19 Executive Employment Contract between the Company and Scott A. Gabbard, dated July 11, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2002)**
10.20 Executive Employment Contract between the Company and Stanley Piekos, dated April 7, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2003)**
10.21 Executive Employment Contract between the Company and Cory Watkins, dated February 5, 2004
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the Company s
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003)**
10.22* Executive Employment Contract between the Company and Jeffrey Nelson, dated January 17, 2005%*
10.23 Code of Ethics, dated February 7, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.35 to the Company s
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2002)
10.24%* August Technology 2005 Annual Incentive Plan**
21.1%* Subsidiaries of the Company
23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
31.1%* Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) of the Chief Executive Officer
31.2% Certification pursuant to Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) of the Chief Financial Officer
32.1% Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
* Filed herewith
ok Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
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